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G i aa daduaisnnll ailyghill Jga adiall ailalyialllg cagydall gLa «4Ia ¢ ng .dcnanll dyllnll caLilyl
adc calaliadl gra cailjaeill s gule aly dcgaanlldphym Glhi gl dailill cagyall gi Gguull ra calpacill

.Laigaa

dyylniiul Gljlacll puai

odi cyal ondl iJLiijl&JgJﬂ.nJlﬁngniLuJJlleLﬁ_c_”gHgbﬂl 304 dyliiswdl ailjlacll dlalell d nyall 34327 p iy
Goglgillladm ppaipadiglhollapallg ailagall p ol Gapian Guldiwe ljlac pudielpa 1d oo sgiom
OAnill piy ol 13] clidionly dylgall g puaill jleo dinl Gilungi cg i ra dagyen ppadi agllul pbhaisuly ailjlacll
Jghill aad dylaiisudl aljlacll a1l na Lavio Ggigo djgny daydll add 31025 o

oAy dgoidly calepnll diglin ddgyb o enall dnulgs jaghill 3 dylaiionll calylicll dlalell dnyall 34030 piy
G-ni il &gl dyladiwll ailjlacll & lalell & nyéll y 1047 5 «alebiigll Jlacdl diwilly & al35ll & dyhg
uill dyghanll dyladisul ciljlacll lalell doydll 3aai piy G calaly gl dlo sy ddah plhaiul pabill il
dlilnn calgng calnu Ll caljLael a5y crilnlen Gubal (e cileynll dijlan ddgph plaaisul pali calalg] ja il

.dcgoanll ciljLacy anlall ELi

dlgnj Caldpsis nd lndiatll dngd palasil
Lol &8 AL Lo Jyaomi ($)a3All oo Ol8 19] Lo & cgnanll 2327 & )lnll Go i dduyh G arhi sy
ol e negagn Jula sl cllin 14 13] Lo dcnan d yllo caliby J4 ayli i d egnanll 337 .alunjll Laildy i pa
dnyall gALasil ¢ 1o d cgaanll oowiai (Jola agag dllh rag Lavingd codasil a Lojll cald il grd jladisall
eoanll Ll gl aly il Ly grd jlwll Jawi pd dgyiandl ainyiglndism il aalapiuml g Anall ¢l o Gpeally
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ae lillLniding g.l.p.oi dyamgayill aylacll Juol adyis

dcnanll allnll calibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pna3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

daaainllg auubuil pausllanyy 3

Ja dnflall agalell pa il 2acl Aol ngindl e diosdl 2y dnods dgnbodll paoadl dyagy aloial p
aaynll houginll e diodl Ay doody daaanll pa ol diayy alaial piy Lnig (@igall paul 5ol disll
ouill apalell g fll 33.cl aaynll hginll 151 (aigjall paul didinl) diswl JUA doflall aglell an il 2acl
dsllnll calibull A yli gré Lo dale asul ol d dasall d loinall @ yalell pa il d 814 Jogai aic Laylan] a
pdulldin ola dnflédaasn cilgal agag pacl [{Ai .aaasn dlnian dnild pa ol degnanll a1 4y pl dcnanll
ddulhio daanllg dpmbudll

2019 2020
2,001,582 1,375,919 (riagd Jliga) disnadl 2y
193,423,511 193,423,511 (aigjall parl clifianly) disdl JUa dnflall apalell pmun il 33c] 2350l huuginll
oula 10.35 onla7.11 daainllg dpsubuill pausll dsag)

sl jlicall na 33102019 oo 31 ra daiindl disull daarnllg dnbudll pn ol dayy aibloa Joaciald

ayjlniiul CGilylac 4

2019 2020

Jiagh jliga Jiagh jliga
63,462,636 66,055,553 plig 1 na
2,942,917 7,278,473 alalal
(350,000) (1,089,400) dylniinl calylacl alalell anyall ua ppesill
66,055,553 72,244,626 Joua 31 pa
il Ins dylndion ] Ollicll Cayini piy

2019 2020

Jriagh jliga gl jliga
39,486,553 46,224,626 Hghill 244 jlac
26,569,000 26,020,000 djgho ciljlac

66,055,553 72,244,626
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2020  sgisull yapaill

dcnanll alloll cailibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pnsa3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

(40ii) ayyloiiwml culjlac 4

61,386,553 :2019) Jriag4 jLiua 67,924,626 Lavjad dlale dnydy (sylafinml jlac pypdi pi 2020 posua 31 ua Lok
Jalio ylons pa_do 12019 pna 31) gé jLiza 20,400,000¢uns & ilyo (idla Jalde olods (risgh jLisa
Juiagh jLisa 198,426 ¢luny clinll (s3] caguindn caliung (16 alayl) (nisgh jLiaa 14,200,000 ¢y dulpo (nidla

(6 alew]) (Urigh jLizn 2,416 :2019 jyn i3 31)

OII"" QI "- QL!JI_&LQI “u LijJJ‘.!J. PL&CII “"uuu‘J-!TJI-u Ia_.!JI e JJICIIJI . IIaJJlLII . "uII Hnjpj
oo 3.1lg i iy ¢ gpagdall 5450 331 yloiill il Licll o0 g9l 13- i JLan (b GLaniis
:a—.l.JI_".JI é-}‘b_ll PI s e L! . ) ) 3 II _I_LﬂPLa .al-.l:.: . 1 o n" o § I

Jlocilaaldill dasphg pa)ild aowidl ileysnll dijlan d gy Gaa coall dhulgs jughill aaéa ailjlacll g paipi o
Calebauidl
.CﬂnhgyléanuJﬁﬁ%ﬂa&iluﬂg4}*;hu3|3h4!éﬁili&ni”&Jgknﬂ|thhﬂﬂ|p*+ﬁjpd o

(Oropdill G oo Jadll pnaill :22019) Ganpaill Gasn G oo Jaill ppdill d egnanll cylial o paill galy¢ il
calbdhinl i_ﬁ.c'lg dcnanlla dloll culibudl A yli acy gid_;.éi 3Alg ph siraion UI_LDJGLIQJU_D.D Lomcljal o i Gaall
¢lunydlalell dnyall a ppcill goo daili il degnanll il wilopdill asa o] aliisul JLoll §lgoul dfsn

.connll LAl gigujjjlgl_gg\_a (Uisgh jLisa 350,000 ¢ liny jilua :2019) riagh jLiza 1,089,400

.dlalcllanyall oyl Jgaall na 3g 2 (sgibunll jon dyloiiudl ailjlacll aald cayini aiy

:dlalpdl dlosgy ddgpla pladisul anpdi pi 3l jgholl jlacll ppadis ddleinll dolall Slalyiadl ply Inya

2019 2020

9.7 9.8 (igd jliaa) (eayo pinll) jladll hungio
%6.5 %6.7 ailell Jacn

%0.3 %0.5 yg&s5dl Jaco

Ayleiisudl allacll pudiy adlcinl Ia,nJ_mg;JjjﬂlaLn'ljldJJI@dalugJJ__”' oudill dpbua Il Jgaall Jayey

aiaall ayy nle il Qa Alpéill
2019 2020 anaill calalyial
Juiagh jliya Juiigh jlipa

219,119 217,175 %1+ Jlaudll hungin
169,769 161,264  apubuidhai 50+ 2ilell Jaco

36,649 32,570 %1+ Jgésinll Jaco
254,821 248,230 %1+ dagiodl palill calalygl gl Jyesinill cilagpan dyi
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aclill LniAyasg e.¢l.p.gin damyayill aylacll Jl_ul d4ysi

dcnanll allnll calibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pna3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

alyojll Aildpinll né Gl il degnanll 52

iyleall 8ol ina
apgdyll il aiull dglani 2019 2020 ouulill aly a8yl pual
dylic dh il Jagisi 31 %35.53 %35.53 Cuaghll lynall 64
. dyylicl

(o)

dylic dh il Jnouia 31 %24 %24 aupclladlonll  dpamall jlandl 64
gl (“Janll”) .p.p.3

il Ind nah disnl Idllj&J._s,anI«ﬂljphJIg\.&jlnM"" W ayyiacdl anydll pa aipall ol

2019 2020
Jiagh jliga Jriagh jlipa
66,885,395 70,825,737 palia 1 na Lok
2,990,969 3,051,473 afliill nd dnn
2,030,577 (228,033) ailalal (Jlll guly 2y)
(1,066,025) (1,776,707) dnlisun alyi cileyjgi
(15,179) 38,526 duial crllne Jugai catlyaci
70,825,737 71,910,996 poua 31 na lnd
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2020  sgiwll jyyail

denanll alall calilydl Jga calalay]

2020 pnsa3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

2019

Jiagh liga
301,540,820
8,672,009
(92,200,179)

(7,458,102)

210,554,548

70,825,737

20,232,900

8,422,819

(63,246)

8,359,573

2020

Jiygh jliga
301,722,138
11,773,095
(89,214,738)

(10,821,770)

213,458,725

71,910,996
18,762,175
8,694,372
160,525

8,854,897

2019
Jagh jliga

382,713
(2,416)

380,297

cljnall a4y

Elp.giraylacll

(aliiin)
Jagh jliga

267,265,149
11,159,055
(89,146,853)
(9,911,327)
179,366,024
%35.53
63,728,748

17,056,048

8,367,944

8,367,944

2020
Jagh jliga

1,901,396
(198,426)

1,702,970

Jlandl a4y
6p.p.3aumill
Jriagh jlipa
34,456,989
614,040
(67,885)
(910,443)
34,092,701
%24
8,182,248
1,706,127
326,428

160,525

486,953

:alyojll Glipnll na degnanl I jlniisul Jga dallo Gilnglen oo aullill Jglaall angi

alyojll il il pallall j4gall ol

alglaio j€ Gilagago
alglain dilagago
alglain jié Ciliglho
alglain Ciliglhn

ay8lnll Ggda

JI Seee _Iua_.lJl&JJI . "..II
cilalpl

il

sl dloLis (jiLasa) alyl

aloLill cilalp il pllna)

: by In gnnviy Jalenll 34illg 24ill Gla gnanll dpaaill Glaaaill Gl gyl

2ig cginll (sal gl
ELindl 52l Caguishn b

Hog3 31 (na lad Jalenll 2aillg 24ill (allna)

dgled ayy illaen Jnayg Qrisgsdl jligally alas s o dagins crtlyni iyl sal caguindall abwall Jing
olnds Jgasall (sjdpall cigdll iy e jalall pnall Jaco Gga Ligiu (%1.5 :2019 pununa 31) %1.5 dsiy
(4 2y ylaiasll hlacll e Jalio
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ae lillLniding g.l.p.oi dyamgayill aylacll Juol adyis

dcnanll allnll calibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pna3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

siLouall gl aly Il WA o dlalell anyally dayan gl Cilagagn 7

2019 2020
Jiagh jlina gl jliza

1,503,375 1,458,552 dycaun ja€ dylan pul

83,653 52,169 djlan Gaalin
1,587,028 1,510,721

dll4g jlniisul cilag 8

%1.319 dwda Gali 2y Jaen Jnnig u\_b_n &y saddcagn u\_ug_‘l.” jLigall d2yanp dll4g jlniiul cilag ol
dcgnanll plglin JgieJl.aJJJLn oleiil albha Jaldo Glors Lanyadipiag ngJ_..u (%3.125:2019 jyn 32 31)
(uwgﬁjl_u:n cguit 1:2019 posuya 31)

Jallguly 9
;o0 oMl @4sisdl Jlosuly gy

Jolslly ggannllg jannllg as apanll Jlnll Guly

2019 2020 2019 2020
ot ol Jriagh jliga Jgh jliza
185,220,000 194,481,000 18,522,000 19,448,100 onla 100 dnydy Lamu 194,481,000 22c

185,220,000 :2019 jinuuya 31) pdrull
13.4i cgaang (paumnl] Gula 100 dnyéy [t
.Jol4lL

.&jgild aalio jé aavudll jlan] dgilc o)

aJ_uJ_uaa_anm_min_n!u\J_cpjﬂaﬁ}_uJJlum.mLan dygiowlldannlellayngnclldyenallcidalg 22020 guigy 25 pa
2019 pnwya 31 ra dypaniinll disul] (e TOOJin.m_miS)gg._dJ.nﬂng.nJlga_ge}_anJldLnﬂuuiJQJ)%S

pﬂlaj}_,mutn_dj dalyj onde plll a8y il anmlunl dgalell y g€ d@ yngncll d yenall cidalg 2020 g 1lgy 2 pa
JsnmlLunll u\_ugﬁJLuJ 926,100 ¢luny dain ph 11 9,261,000 23¢ jlan| JUA b ggdanllg jannllgas ajnnll
JLisa 759,234 ¢ Lo é cgnanll Jlall guly (A flé G0 din pdl jlaoa] pi ol d8j—inll catlaw grd Gula sl

«Juiagh JLixa 166,866 ¢ unyd layn aluyig (12 alyl) (nigh
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2020  sgisull yapaill

dcnanll alloll cailibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pnsa3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

Sibaldl phbiadl 10

il 328 %10 (o Joai 1 dsni Jagai iy @l d4y-isld b il pLAillg Gupowbill s dicg il il (g ill Laag
wwdan claci alalsng al4jllg dibgll dllacll aca d1png Jrolell pacaill ciaghll dmongo dnan Jad disull 3y oo
adyiall dygioll dpngncllayenall jgay . pdllasysill)la] gudan oo dangi e 2L (sba i b lia gl gl
Ja-anll JLall Guly oo %50 o (rblinl jolaiy Loaic Jagaill 134 cadg pdll

d gg-aanll JLall Guly oo %5 dxwis aluyl aileyjgi alaul g lhnll ¢ ball 33an (bl ubliaall cijgi o)
unll &3 alyi ailerjgi alaoy dapall Ayl Lava an i 1 guill cilgioull

sybiadl phabiadl 11
gl 331 %710 e 3 2 dywni Jagai wiay e il @i gl il pLAillg guponlill dcg il il ogildl Laag
owdan claci alalsng al4jlg duibgll dllacll pea drpag Jralell paaill ciaghll dmungo s Jad disudl ) oo
Geanbunll dyngaclldsenalljlid orle 2L daginudl cilagaill ad.a cadg jgau syl ublindl adlélal

Jbliadl s cajgi e agud 2agi U .ajlagl gudan (o dngi iagay

Jlall Gulj Afla 12
£ 1996 & JUa aic JjLiall a s3lg gudsbandl o211 @4 )il pnsbusnl L Lelio JLall guly pafla Jing

odll @4y_ill Jloswdy aluj e p2ll d4)sindl pnabaunl & palell jy¢ & yngacll & yenall cidalg 2020 g lgs 2 ra
g3nmbunll niigh jliya 926,100 ¢lunsdaio ad i 9,261,000 23¢ jlan] JUA (oo gga3nllg janollgay aynoll
Juiagh )Liza 759,234 ¢luny dcgnanll Jlowly A fla oo daio pal jlan] ai pdll a4yl o gra Gulauall

(9 alay]) Jriagh jLisa 166,866 ¢ luny dlago alyjig

apaialyl ailegjgi 13
dinull d1adi byl ajgi pac 2020 g 1igs 25 A yliy da-dcinll pill a4y irll rnalusnl il drngacll dyenll cuilel
(enuin 1:2018) 2019 pnsanaa 31 Jrd dudviioll
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ae lillLniding g.l.p.oi dyamgayill aylacll Juol adyis

dcnanll allnll calibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pna3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

aigja p.m.;.ui 14

2019 2020
1,007,133 1,057,489 aduuill 3ac
%0.54 %0.54 ajannll g il dai
182,291 187,176 (Uniagh jliga) dsdigunll dnyall
319,250 319,250 (Unigh jliga) dalsill

177 ¢Juny 2020 o uya 31 umm@un“mﬂpﬂ|aﬁpu“p.¢.wL@b]|@g.uﬂ“LuﬂpM|b_u.lg.l.D“JJ_a.l
(eaud] Lida 181:2019 n wya 31) pr ll Liula

o0 @duudll iy Blain Ul g izl jlas gule cajgild dluld e dinjall pavnl daldi Jalei il calyhliadl |
Jloll §lgni afim cilnylcil Liag dcgnanll Jaa

dadaisun Cilagyang (giala 15

2019 2020

Juiagh jliga iagh jlisa
410,137 926,090 921909 Galglin ll ddnisun ¢llin
91,558 96,721 Saalisun oo loain plisus jlay)
269,900 253,981 Supalioun oo ciligoli
185,574 64,700 daniun cilagynn
129,854 128,940 i alyl cileyjgi
1,037 31,139 (18 alay) dddle cila calyhal ] danin ¢lin
1,920,804 1,251,505 yalill cibiglho
1,132,431 1,204,733 o991l ugidla

4,141,295 3,957,809
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dcnanll alloll cailibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pnsa3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

2019
Jagh jliga

1,469,771
2,671,524

4,141,295

: oy Ins goanll pllall jSpall Gl né ddrisundl Cilagyanllg Gaidlall g alaalll piy

2020
Jigh jliga

740,060
3,217,749

3,957,809

dlglainp jc
dlglain

Q1) Jacn hhugin Jonaig u\_ug_‘lﬂ jLigall é2)an Jrhg :L")'\JA.D Sy oo daalyn L”p_i_fh:u\_l_c Jgall pi
OlaAydlgase g sjhpell aqgdll dliy G jalnll p niall Jaco Gga (ligizsa %1.5 :2019) Ligi %1.5 dyia
61,386,553 :2019) 2020 pynga 31 nd Lod niagh jLiga 67,924,626 Lavyad dyiad doydy dylaiioul ailjlace Jalao

Jouwga 31
2020

gl gliza

128,940
20,400,000
1,251,505

21,780,445

Joua 31
2019

Jagh jliga
129,854
14,200,000

1,920,804

16,250,658

63

-agaaill Gilaaaill
(@yalall) | aaylgll
Qiagh jliga

(914)
6,200,000
(669,299)

5,529,787

-apadill cilaaaill
(ayalall) | aylgll
Jagh jliga

(5,537)
4,200,000

(689,565)

3,504,898

nlip1
2020
igh jliga

129,854
14,200,000
1,920,804

16,250,658

slia 1
2019

Juiagh jliaa
135,391
10,000,000

2,610,369

12,745,760

(4 alayl) (rdughjLisa

ddniun alyl cilejgi
dylyo gidla
Jalill cibglho

ddniun alyl cilcyjgi
alyo gidla
Jalill cibglhn



acylill Lnispuing g.cl.p i dpyayill aglacll Jlual a4 i

dcnanll allnll calibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pna3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

aalell ala calphill Ahlnal - 18
g\.dbg.ngg_yujq,d_LU|Q_ng(jJJmJ|g&J|J_!J|ougnzLéLig Q_H_m_gj}]|o_p.mLanJ|L53J&3_nJﬂ|gdﬂ_nLan|aj_mdinj
ol Gl gosllall caly b Il c g a Lava (g8a il caldysiallg Goupdinll p aidile alyalg dcgaanl] Likell &lall
el Jlacill Gl Goa Laflab dcgnanll pgdi uillg Lavde gugalall jilill gl dpny sl duylas pamilsol

odllad il dlal Jud oo crilolenll a3 pyc i hgyiig cilunlow e ddalgnll pii

:enanll filuall gf alyill glu né dajanll dédle Gla alyhl go Giilolenll ply oga

2019 2020 alunj a4 i
Jiagh jlhiga gl jliga Qigh jliga
5,084 5,044 5,044 sl cilagynng jlag) cilagpan

(ayla] cilagpnng culjlac Jucuind culagpnn (o dajan)

:enanll (pllall fSpall Glu g dayandl dé e il calghal 3l G001l ply Loga

2019 2020 alynj ad pis

gl higa Jiagh jliza il jliga
1,037 31,139 31,139 (15 alay]) dddle (53 caph nl] @énian ¢lin
1,920,804 1,251,505 1,251,505 yalill ciliglhn

abibadl A yli G d3alg dicw JUA aloudl Gaiowig dadila dld_lll_l_u adlle sacaph ol dganimall ¢ uall o)
.denanlld dinll

Llell &la gl pabign alalso

2019 2020
Jrigh jliya Jigh jliga
185,257 159,075 Jalllapna biljng ciilg)
30,431 31,767 Suahgall aoaall alai alalso
50,000 20,000 ayladll gulan claci alalso
265,688 210,842

Jiagh jliaa Z0,000E'.J.}.D..IaJIJ.!JIuJJJ;.DLLD'.Ciai_db.D iy pdll &jj_ﬁulldjlnlu,u,d;numgi 2021 julya 10 ayli
d_dalgnl d yngill ad_ ¢ AT ((n_ug_‘l jLiga 50,000 :2019 jun w2 31) 2020 jun swga 31 Ja amiinll aiull
pﬂ|a_‘u_u.kl_| an.L_LuJ|a_1.Dgn_d|a_L(_DJJ|gLn_u|uLauJ.n.mLuLnJ|

ai._dﬁ_n,g_;jgjpn_c( nlc 2020 g rigy 25 A ylia dodcinl |pﬂ|d_‘u_;i'JJ|(“n.n.mLm_n_|éi__!gJ_uJJ' | dangncll acnall Ci_aalg

jLiua 50,000 ¢luny paaisunll juc ¢linll 2y pi ,u\Jb.”Jg 2079 powya 31 na dmiinll diowdl dyladl Gudan claci
il Jila padll alalydl na alpawig iagh
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dcnanll alloll cailibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pnsa3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

alnian Cibglho 19

:2019) Jiagh jLign 21,399 ¢uny Hlon wilhi Jhnidlaian caliglho d cgnanll ($31.2020 o nga 31 ra e
ol Lanie Ly of céiginll oo Guoilg dylaiioml callacy Glei Losa dllall é)ljg ol ajlaon] p (riagh jLiza 21,399

.dphga aibiglhan

Silelhall Giloglen 20

iy Jugini gaelhi Lagalg Lavilnaag Lavilasin (e 2Ly Jlocd cilaag ol degnanll p yaii pi dlatll alyedl
;s Lod lnailsing jylai alac]

,g__l_._dlua'}_ﬂ«LllJLﬁLlnghjgizLi_nggdleﬁL”g\_d&J_;l_'i_n]lg)l.nJJ_;.u""' ﬂl('mm""'gﬁJngLﬁdljbu_m""' Wahosil o
.MJ.&_ELLCI'.D“d}jjjlaﬁULﬁL”CILDJj“g&SJLdIJLDLﬂI@L},’uQM

dalgyoull abllaio &JlJ!gMJL&Lgi[Jb@JUﬂgm&jjbiLnll";_nmJ'""g\.’l’]ldjjﬂldhl.nu_u.l’"' JJ|gp.m_.ujJ|aJa_;u_|" il
.dcgnanll sal
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ae)lill Loty g ¢.Clop. i dpampayill aylacll Jliaf adyts

dcnanll allnll calibadl Jga calalag]
2020 pna3 31 pa daaviinll disadlg na Lo

(anii) cilclhall aloglen 20

:ilelhall pylii Jga Cilnglen (ply nga

ahuhil Silylniiudllg

oyl acjgn ué aylac sidl
Jriagh jliga iagh jlipa Juiagh jlipa Jriagh jlipa 2020 posya 31
4,159,053 170,992 874,088 3,113,973 alelhall cilaly)
(1,089,400) - (1,089,400) - dylniiwl calylacl alalell dnyéll a peill
(76,307) - - (76,307) dayao dgllo cilagago (o dddan e jilua
(466,642) (126,822) - JiLusall gl aly il J1la oo dlalell dnyally
(1,150,785) (877,982) (272,803) (339,820) Jugnicalldi
- Jalall ,dpiahjg)m
1,375,919 (833,812) (488,115) 2,697,846 alelhall oilii
150,765,402 5,099,059 72,244,626 73,421,717 alelhall cilagagn
24,848,493 3,703,828 11,144,665 10,000,000 alelhall ciliglhn

dloadl dcjgo jué dglac  (gpadll ailylniiullg
Jiagh jliga Jagh jliaa Jiagh jliaa Jiagh jliga 2019 prosnga 31
4,793,592 147,505 1,714,801 2,931,286 alelhall cilaly)
(350,000) - (350,000) - dylniiwl callacl alalell dnyéll ua peill
(444,629) - - (444,629) dayao dllo cilagago (o dddan e jilua
(561,323) (100,096) - (461,227) JiLusall gl aly il J1la oo dlalell dnyally
(1,436,058) (918,549) (517,509) - Jagni caylli
Qalall .dpidhjg}m
2,001,582 (871,140) 847,292 2,025,430 alelhall oilii
143,072,673 4,604,355 66,055,553 72,412,765 alelhall cilagagn
18,570,209 3,871,395 4,698,814 10,000,000 alelhall ciliglhan
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dgllol yhalanl djlal Cluluug caloal .21
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La.aga}.nJ_..unJIa_Lalj_nllguuLm.llg :uanJIa_a_U.h_l}_bb_n_llaJ.ﬂJa;Ile_uu_ﬁJga_cg_nanllab_.mlumj_bbnllu_n_ﬁ
G2 na degnanlljlpniLndl s a.g.n.d)lulJ}JabnllaJh‘lg\_aa_u,lJJallam Ol.spalll lylgnllg phlanll agaal

.y dhginll aillgguall §lciy Loya yhlanll Aycill G1lggun degaanlly 3pa J4 Jariyg alydll

dcgnanll Ay i pm sl jloui phlang & piadll citladll yhlang 2l Jaoco yhalan gl Ggoull jhlan poniii
Liaglgidillg afpdl ra culyaeill Jin Jloc il phalan dlainll phlanll dydlpe ddne Josid . Jyiill palanl Lo
wudan cbacl Jnaiy degnanll (o) rauilpioudl huhaill dydac Jua (o phlanll e drélyo aiy . Jlocdll lhdg

sdalaall djlal € saling calyayilyioml alniclg phlanll é)layl Jolidl aminll cag (e dloldll dlgiunll djladl

Oloiidl jhlan  21.1

JaTllcapall 3,55 ] (538 Lao aoljilly cLagll vd d o alaf caly i 3o §las] phlas s GLaifl palan )
yadg oleiill phlael gaycill dyélyo JUA Goo Gloiill p hlae hya (pll d egoanll d)la] ncowi a4l LAl
b guadill 2l ol .allandl caly a1l agilnif il éjlaall paissnll pydillg G330 dlin calyal e citlolenl]
ool el j Aell gLy radajanllayllnll calag agall d gyiasll déngall nle pniay Gloiidl jhlanl yay cill

a3yl aalyn Guph oo dylotisull ailjLacll Gapalisunlly gleiy Loga oloifull jalan o 22l dcgoanll i i
Gt Oc @llag jlndioul g51agg clgisll (sad a2y il Glciy Lnga olnifull jalan oo degnanll 3i anflall diganll
Jhaadagn den o cila élgiy o h aa Jooleill

caghall icianyii oloifull phlanl dcgnanll (aycii sy il alall ilagagall e aailill Glosfull phlang Gl Loga
lgaillasal ayiasll dnsall palanll japcill oo vadill aall Jale Gung o Jaléall

alguull jhlin 21.2

dlgyull palan 23ii 24 .ayligoill Lavilidhio (ralng clagll nle degoanlld)ad pac phlao s dlgyull phlao o)
Jg-all nle Jagnill jalne pa cr g ai rd i ad il Glaiidll calaya @ngigwlw_auhljhnﬂlu_c
ahalaollg gLicdl nadlgyndl jjig.nﬂlng;g.n]l&;l:!g Jagoill jalno cygiiydylaldl Goold galanlladm dmalgnlg

dlga g Gaganill aulall aylloll glgillg Jalenll 2 aillg 3 dill g wald sgny ple

alyill cutlaen cilegaan nAji Juillg acdginll apaill aalaasill ayllall cailyglhnll dlgysull dnilé GuAci

Ja¢ alloll calyglhnll Glaaim |&_n_‘|lﬁg\_JUJ|Jgj__JJ|(p_:\lJ" 1.alell aliglhhnllad a joc (30 e dalydaiwnll
.angninll j ¢ d yadlaill cul egasnll alaw caloljill ] iJMlMJ 31 ndlnddcgnanll (s31d ngninll
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ggnanll
igh jlipa

23,523,405
3,915,574
198,426

27,637,405

gonanll
Juiagh jliaa

18,068,437
4,169,016
2,416

22,239,869

o sl
dlgisu 5
Jriagh jliga

11,111,405

11,111,405

o yisl
Cilgiou 5
Jagh jliga

11,168,750

11,168,750

5l 1
Silgisn
Jagh jliza

11,800,000
757,271

12,557,271

5l 1
Calgion
Jriagh jliga

6,296,187
1,523,724

7,819,911

1213
Iphia
Jiagh jliga

459,000
2,029,270
198,426

2,686,696

120013
|y
Juigh jliga

452,625
2,039,724
2,416

2,494,765

oo Jal
j.m..hi 3
Jiagh jliga

153,000
1,129,033

1,282,033

o Jal
Jsial 3
Jiagh jliya

150,875
605,568

756,443

2020

dlyo giila

iinimn Ciligynng Ogilla
igll 2] Cagsiido bwa

ggnanll

2019

dlyo gidla

A ilagrang Ooifla
Elill (53l caguinsn wibun

ggnaoll

5340 plisasndl jlagtll elidial
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(anii) allnll phlanll djlal Abulosg calanl 21
Gaulljhlan 21.3

g calpeill adia il elgm Goondl jlenl ra caly il dauii Lo Jonl d0yd ol phlao (s Ggonldl phlan o)
Gonll gra dlglainll caljladiou il cana (nle 1567 Joolge gf Ll dj3anll aanall gl sapall jlasioul Gleii Jolge
€giig cilagagnll éaacin ailia nle I.a.u_um da3ao djgnu cilagagall cajgi uuL;uI e Ggouldl jnlap jlai
J2dig ailabyilg Ggmll cagytal jaiuwnll aydillg Jlocll cilclhg jAyig gralpeall cajgill dwill calag agall

alalell dnyall pa Joa il dpandg dlugh calyseill &lal

aupl Jaco jhlan  21.3.1
oy allall ilga il ayyai small & paill ilaaaill gf alalell anyall oai ybalan (s asll Joco halan o)
citlren Joni uill aalyall guifla e all Jaco pbolanl dcgnanll gaycii Gl aailall jleuf na caly sl

(GSLDJ!)CLJJJldﬂmgM|u| "'3“9(16e|-ld4.!)ii \¢in Ay

o il aadlaen ha dlgdcn djgny dlnianll il il cnanll jiluall gigL”jJI ol dubua il Jgaallangy
:anli padll alpycinll aaldy hlaiadl

aianll ayy e il oadill [aalgll
Jiagh jliza &.,g.mhuj]lblﬁ.i]lg\.&

205,984 100 (-/+) 2020
142,000 100 (-/+) 2019

auiadll Glncll jhlan  21.3.2

i i dyllo dladl dphaiwall dyaaill cilaasill gl dlalell dnyall dai phlan grs dpindll cdadl phlao )
Aggiadll ol Gaypn JLc_minggh éill

dajao dcgnanll ciluglhng cilagago uJ.ci Ol & duypmga djgnya piaill il ol phianl @ egnanll Ay €ii Al
gl Ligall
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(anii) dllnll phlanll djlal ibulong calaml 21
adunill jloul jhlan  21.3.3

jlel phalan & egnanll puai ad ol gra ciljlaiiou) a1l & nyéll d il oo pavwdlljle ol hlan a5
Jlocill calelha j 4y g leiy Laya cilylaiionll ¢ 1gii JUA oo par sl

gl alydll 1A oo dlalell d nyally aayanll alnll cilagagall O ¢ia pa il jle ol jhlanl d cgnanll jay cii 1l
.G)1a_n Gaaling aJI_an_ch.mJuiu\_auhlanu_mua_cgnAnﬂdej_fLmA“

Jlall Gulj &jlal

Jlacill pealdaall Jlall guly catlaen (e dBalaall Lo g JLall guly )la] go gowipll dcgnanll caam |
ol eljalaiy ol Jlocdll cagyhs na cilppcill cgad né asle catlyaci dlyalg Joll guly J4ua &)lab dcgnanll pg &
2019 1003 3192020 prnunn 31 rd Gudaiiall Guiisadl JUA aledadl gl aibuluadl gl bl pa cilpaei

125,943,288 ¢ lyny I3 ja.dug dial crtlac Jugai bbial didiouly a150all §g-a rllnal oo JLall gl Hg-5i
(uLugﬁJLua 124,567,369:2019) 2020 junwga 31 uLa Ln4 uu_ngﬁ jLiga

Jlall yuly cileljill .22

izl ooyl Glaillly dcgaanll pjili I3 (e 2Lag syl calpal eo cliuil agdc plply dcgaanll cioli
(u\_ug_’xJLuJ 15,471,226 :2019)@_'1’_,19_’1 jLiga 10,481,762@1@4 .cLJJ.i.!J' muhLa.dthLu Loya

alalell anyall gubia .23

aallall Cilgadll
ayllall cibiglhallg dylall cilagagall o dyllall cilgall g3

U-€ dymgr dygny caliai i a lalell d nyél __"I.J_apj_ljgm_ﬂla__gJLnJIanglJanJIga__gJLnJIaIJg_ggnlJaJJlr_lla_n_mJ” sall o)
dyiall Lvinys

aladll o dlalcllanydlldpda nacalagagall dlalell dnydll 3g3ail doddisuell ailalpiadlg abaaminll 3 pAgi pi
dolavl aplaell Abwloadl aale :2.5
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alalell angall pojanll Jgaall

dcoanll @ yllall cibibull é Lavic alnal g dlalell Lavingg gulid pois goill ciliglanllg cilagagall d.al4 caini
drnal Jing s3lg atlanall yo sgibun Jil (] 13 Lidul b Lnd dipnllg dlalcllanyill popall Jgaall Gon
:J44 alaledl oyall Gulyal

g «élilonll calighholl gf cilagagall dhnsinill §lgadll na (dlacall pe) didenll jlenill:1 sgimall o

oulsd e Lypmga |ypili Jing (s31g crllaanll oo (sgimn J-al Lvy g 8y (sl popsdii capllaad 12 (gimnll
g {yoiibio jue gl jouialin Jiin Uagaln dlalell d nyall

wuled (nde Lipanga il Joing (s3dlg crtlannll oo (sgibmn Joii Lav Gg-8a 1 (53l podi ol 13 (sgibmall - o
Uagaln dlalell dnyall

opadl Jgaall (sgimanl Ln.ag dlalell d nydlly dlasnll G cgnanll &lagagoe Judai Ll Jgaall angy
JH0ouya 31 rd dlalell dnypall

3 sgiuuall
Jiagh gliza 2020

1,510,721 }.fl.;.uj_llgiel.uj]ld.lljdn&]al.dlﬁ.n&.ﬁ]hﬁgjmE._x_]l.n&lnggg.n
3 sgisunll
Jagh jliga 2019

1,587,028 JiLuall gl alydll Jua oo dlalell dnyélly d3)am dglls cilagagn
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oy il 3 (sgibunll i d yllnll Glagagnll polisllg raliiadl ¢ el d dilhe pL Jgaall aigy
Janouga 31 (rea dlaledl angdlly Lty s

Alyidinll rala FLusall péla
didlygaillg Ol na dlasuall
Cilesnllg Ll gi alyy il
diall Glni pd Cilaganillg goanll diall @l né
Jiagh jliza gl jliga Qg gliza Jiagh jliza 2020

1,510,721 - (76,307) 1,587,028 o dlaledl anyilly dagan dxllo Cilagagn
FiLwall gl alyil gua

1,587,028 (386,264) (444,629) 2,417,921 2019
JUa Go dlalell dnyally dayan dillo calagago
yiLusall gf alyydll

:agllnll Cilagagnll pudil dnadisnll ahhgalnll yé dypmgall Crlaanll cang

:djlan gaalin

ol .ggainll u_J_Di Jd §o Lvngadi p i ULIJ| calagagell d nya u\_al_n ol JaLii_wml dylanll gualinll p a7 p i
drnbua abwiad apaill gra déodaiLunll dagalall juc dymgall il Aanllg pppdill agllubiddleinll caloglenll
.)-agin Aoyl d hgalell py¢ il Aanll g ailpcilld lalell d nyall Gublia

:0)Caun Jac psl

aypngall cllaanll
alalell dngall 3020l dpmloa Jacall alhgalnll pé endioglal  dpcuun pé pmaul

anill Jaen na %5 daiy (padill) aalijll o) %50 —10 el pall Jaco .
¢y alalell dnyill (8alyj) palaail ] sagi — ol o
Jviagh Jlign 72,928

oedLinall G ol degoanll craiil ill ¢llnll Jing Gagossill cacal anall Jaco of*
alylndiul peu 33320 sic jhicdll na Ligaaliu Ggull pna
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dyllo ju€ Gilagago

gcgnanll 3 (sgisuanll 2 (sgiaunll 1 sgiunll
Jagh jliza gl jliga Jagh jliga Jagh jliza

72,244,626 26,020,000 46,224,626 - 2020
ayylniiaul Caljlac
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aylniiswl ailjlac
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40 31 ra dlalell dnpally Lvdgn i

Alyisnll rala

Gilygaillg
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gl gliza Jigh jlipa Jigh jliga gl gliza

26,020,000 53,400 (602,400) 26,569,000 2020 pnawsga 31 U‘-" In4
aylniiswl ailjlac

26,569,000 1,000 (350,000) 26,918,000 2019 pnsua 31 u\.ﬂ In4
dyyloiisul caljldac

agylodinn ] Callicll pgadil ana3kunll dpsgfyll C1t230llg pagdill cagllaad cang

&4J|.ni’i.m|g:||1|.ﬁ.c

Hghill 244 jlac

el Jlncl d-alsi ddyyhg gaydld caleynll dijlin d_dgph o enall dhoulgy jaghill aé jLacll p i poig
Ingying @532l Gguldl C1llnleng alilon culyLacl il gl jle sl djlin Gl cileynll dijlin d dyyn 335
é)a-dnll &al53l ddun 303wi .G33anll jLacll a1l of Livedgo gi Lavicphy na Grall Jaléo dlocall d5al8io dylai
gl Lavicnh nd Gpall Jaldo d lacall clinigll call8i cluaiwl dlelyo ¢ o J-ilan jLac cLi] &-al8i dijlin (]
.33anlljLacllalh gi Lavedgo

ajglao dljlac
dygimudl dyadill caldasill dlasuy ] 2iiwd ol aalalg i dloowy d dyyha dhswlgy djg-hnll carljlacll pdi p iy
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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

Chairman’s Speech

Dear Shareholders - Ajial Real Estate
and Entertainment Company

On my behalf and on behalf of my colleagues, the
members of the Board of Directors, | am pleased
to present you, the 24th Annual Report of Ajial Real
Estate & Entertainment Co., accompanied with the
Financial results for the fiscal year ended on 31st
December 2020.

Dear Shareholders:

Given the health and economic crises Kuwait and
the whole world is going through due to the spread
of the new Corona virus, which affected businesses
in Kuwait. The Government of Kuwait has taken
steps to stop the spread of the epidemic by taking all
necessary measures, by closing commercial centers
and workplaces during that period, which had a
negative impact on the Company.

Nevertheless, the company adopted proactive policies
that resulted in developing precautionary measures
that enabled it to face the crisis from a position of
strength and allowed the Company to play a vital role
in achieving financial stability, reduce the impact of
this crisis, and to ensure the continuity and stability
of the company’s revenues, through the management
of Cash flows and maintaining liquidity, focusing on
continuing business in the company’s projects under
construction (Al-Andalus project), in addition to taking
concrete measures to reduce expenses and grant
discounts on rent to support tenants. The company
supported the investors and clients in the Ajial
complex which resulted in retaining those investors.

Despite all difficulties, during 2020 the Company
continued with developing Al-Andalus Project, a multi-
purpose project located in Hawalli, on a land of 10,300
Sgm and a built-up area of 58,600 sgm approximately.
The aim of this Project is to achieve an “urban sector”
feeling, with strong relationship between interior and
exterior spaces, combining between entertainment,
health, work and shopping. The project contains
offices, medical clinics, commercial shops, and a
cinema. The design team of the project aim was
to link the design to the heritage associated with
this location, where the first Kuwaiti Cinema was
established. It is expected that the project is to be
completed by the year 2022.

In addition, Ajial’s associates Al Hamra Real Estate and
Al Madar Al Thahabia Co. (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia)
have also maintained their excellent performance
respectively which had a positive impact on Ajial.



Annual Report 2020

Financial Report

The balance sheet of Ajial Real Estate & Entertainment
Co. clearly explains the Company’s financial position
for the fiscal year ended on 31/12/2020. The
Company’s net profit has reached KD 1,375,919 with
an EPS of 7.11 fils compared to KD 2,001,582 in 2019,
with an EPS of 10.35 fils, which represents a decrease
of 31.26%. Furthermore, the operational income has
decreased 23.53% from KD 3,333,949 in 2019 to KD
2,549,551 in 2020.

Administrative and general expenses have fallen
3.26% from KD 806,299 in 2019 to KD 779,984 in
2020. Along with finance costs which have also fallen
16.87% from KD 561,323 in 2019 to KD 466,642 in
2020.

The consolidated balance sheet shows that the assets
have increased 5.38% from KD 143,072,673 in 2019
to KD 150,765,402 in 2020, and total liabilities have
increased 33.81% from KD 18,570,209 in 2019 to KD
24,848,493 in 2020. Moreover, Shareholders’ equity
is up by 1.14% from KD 124,502,464 in 2019 to KD
125,916,909 in 2020.

In the end, | would like to take this opportunity to
extend my sincere gratitude and appreciation to all
Shareholders, Stakeholders, the Board and Staff
members of this great company. We look forward to
a future filled with higher achievements by laying the
groundwork for the more progress and growth.

Yours sincerely,

Shk. Ali Al Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah
Chairman
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Al Andalus Project

ALAN

Al Andalus is Kuwait’s newest, trendiest mixed-use
project and community hub. It is a lifestyle destination—
for individuals, families, and businesses alike.

Al Andalus is a unique, rich and ultimately-fulfilling
fusion of retail and entertainment experiences and
interactions. The venue offers a diverse assortment
of non-retail and service-based outlets, as well as
alternative property types and limited-time pop-ups
for niche shopping.

AKUS

Although the nearby area has a reputation for being
congested, Al Andalus promises ultimate ease and
convenience from the beginning of your visit. From an
easy-to-access dedicated entryway and exit right off
the highway, to the more than ample parking space
available (accommodating more than 1,200 vehicles).
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Project owners
Location

Floors

Total plot area
Total built-up area
Ground breaking
Expected opening

Components

Current project completion

Ajial Real Estate Company

Off the Fahaheel Expressway

18

10,350sgm

59,000sgm

23 July, 2019

Early 2022

Retail

Food and beverage
Community spaces
Entertainment
Beauty and wellness
Clinics

Offices

65%
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Components
Ground floor Clinics
Retail, food and beverage, entertainment, community 6 floors
spaces
Offices
Units: 27 9 floors
Mezzanine Basement
Retail, food and beverage, entertainment, Cinema, 11 screens
community spaces
Facilities
Units: 30 «  Parking lot connected to building by bridgeway,
total 1,200 parking spots
First floor
Gym(s), spa(s) + Coordinated elevators separating clinics, offices,

gym(s), cinema, and retail spaces

Location

Al Andalus’ name was not chosen at random. The
name pays homage to one of Kuwait’'s earliest
recreation venues: Cinema Al Andalus - the site of
which is now home to Al Andalus.

Located right in the heart of Kuwait where the buzz
never stops, Al Andalus is conveniently situated near
the exit of the Fahaheel Expressway and directly off of
Beirut Street.

10
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Acknowledgement & Undertaking
of Integrity and Fairness of Statements

Kuwait on 10th February 2020
To the Shareholders of Ajial Real Estate & Entertainment Co.
Acknowledgement & Undertaking of

Integrity and Fairness of Statements

The Board of Directors acknowledge and undertake that the financial reports are provided in a fair and a sound
way, they present all financial aspects of the company, including data and operational results, and they are
prepared accurately in accordance with the International Accounting Standards approved by Capital Markets
Authority for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Shk. Ali Abdulla Al Khalifah Al Sabah Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah
Chairman Vice Chairman

‘ 7
Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal Al Khatrash Mr. Mohamed Abdulrazzaq Al Kandari
Board Member Board Member

P

Ms. Tahani Al Ahmi
Board Member

11



Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

Corporate Governance Report 2020

Rule 01: Construct a Balanced Board Composition
Brief on the composition of the Board of Directors, as follows:

Name Board Member Status Education Date of Election/Appointment
(Executive/Non-Executive/ Qualification of Board Member/Secretary
Independent), or Board Secretary

Shk. Ali Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah Non- Executive Board Member BA 25 JUNE 2020

Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah  Non- Executive Board Member BA 25 JUNE 2020

Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal Al Khatrash Executive Board Member BA 25 JUNE 2020

Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi Independent Member MA 25 JUNE 2020

Mr. Mohammed Abdulrazzak Al Kandari  Independent Member BA 25 JUNE 2020

Mr. Abdulwahab Nabeel Al Oraifan Board Secretary BA 25 JUNE 2020

Brief on the professional experienc of the Board of Directors:

Shk. Ali Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah:

Skh. Al Sabah has over 40 years of experience in in the
banking and real estate sectors. He was the chairman
of Tijara & Real Estate Investment Co. and a Board
member in Gulf bank and Kuwait Real Estate bank,
which later on transformed to (Kuwait International
Bank).

Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah:

Shk. Al Sabah is the vice chairman of the Board and
board member in Mjas General Trading Co. and has
over 13 years of experience in the investment and
real estate sectors. Shk. Al Sabah holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from Boston
University, USA.

Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal Al Khatrash:

Mr. Al Khatrash is a board member and CEO of Ajial
Real Estate & Entertainment Co. has over 20 years of
experience in the investment and real estate sectors.
He previously held the position of deputy CEO in Tijara
& Real Estate Investment Co. Mr. Al Khatrash holds a
Bachelor’s degree in MIS from Northeastern University,
USA.

12

Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi:

Ms. Al Ajmi has over 24 years of experience various
sectors such as investment, real estate and market
research. She is the deputy CEO in Tijara & Real Estate
Investment Co. and an independent board member in
Ajial Real Estate & Entertainment Co. Ms. Al Ajmi holds
a Master degree in Strategic Management.

Mr. Mohammed Abdulrazzak Al Kandari:

Mr. Al Kandari has over 20 years of experience in
the investment, real estate and banking sectors. He
is a Board member in Commercial Bank of Kuwait,
Technology Industrial Gases Production Co., and
Venture Capital Bank (Bahrain). As well as the
executive vice president in Securities Group, Kuwait.
Mr. Al Kandari holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration and Finance.



Annual Report 2020

Brief on the Company’s Board of Directors’ meetings, through the following statement:

Name of Member Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Number
(1) (2 3 4) (5) (6) (7) ®) (9) (10) of
17/2/20 23/3/20 29/4/20 21/6/20 24/6/20 28/6/20 20/7/20 12/8/20  21/10/20 28/12/20  Meetings

Shk. Ali Abdullah v v 4 v v v v v v v v 10

Al-Sabah

(Chairman)

Shk. Hamad v v v v v v v v v v 10

Mubarak

Al-Sabah

(Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal / v v v v v v v v v 10

Al-Khatrash

(Board Member &

CEO)

Ms. Tahani v v 4 v v v v v v v v 10

Al-Ajmi

(Independent

Member)

Mr. Mohammed v v 4 v v v 4 v v v v v 10

Abdulrazzak
Al-Kandari
(Independent
Member)

A summary of how to apply the requirements of registration and coordination and
keeping the minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors of the company:

The role of the Board Secretary of Ajial is to improve the efficiency of Board meetings and to ensure proper
implementation of the resolutions made by the Board and Committee Members. To do so, minutes of meetings
are documented and sorted out for each meeting, together with agendas and reports which are all kept in a
safe and secure place. All minutes contain lists of attendees, absentees, topics of discussion and submitted
reports and proposals. All are accessible and available for all Board Members at any time according to corporate
governance rules and regulations.

13
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Rule 02: Establish Appropriate Roles and Responsibilities

Brief on how the company defines the policy of the tasks, responsibilities, and
duties of each of the Members of the Board of Directors and executive management
members, as well as the powers and authorities delegated to the executive
management:

The Board of Directors have developed the BOD charter which defined the roles and responsibilities of the Board
and Executive Management as per the approved Company’s organization structure. The Board also approved
the policies and procedures of Board Committees and the Company’s departments in detail.

Powers and authorities delegated to the Executive Management are as follows:

R

Carry out and implement the strategies set out by the Board of Directors.

Develop executive objectives of each department and link such plans with the overall plan.

Overall monitoring of all departments and operations.

Ensure proper coordination between departments.

Problem solving issues related to the Management.

Review and update the internal policies and procedures of the company and accordingly distribute it to the
Employees.

Achievements of the Board of Directors during the year:

PO~

14

Continue with the development of Al Andalus project.

Decreased as such as possible the financial losses incurred from the Novel Corona Virus Pandemic.
Follow up on the risk reduction strategies periodically with the executive management.

Retaining the Company’s investors and clients by responding to the executive management’s visions.
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Brief about the application of the formation requirements of independent specialized
committees by the Board of Directors:

Name of Committee

Audit Committee

Risk Committee

Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

Date of Formation 28 June 2020 28 June 2020 28 June 2020
& Term 3 years 3 years 3 years
Number of Meetings 4 4 2

Committee Members
and Chairman

Shk. Hamad Al Sabah
(Chairman)

Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi
(Member)

Mr. Mohammed Al Kandari
(Member)

Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi
(Chairman)

Mr. Abdulaziz Al Khatrash
(Member)

Mr. Mohammed Al Kandari
(Member)

Shk. Hamad Al Sabah
(Chairman)

Mr. Abdulaziz Al Khatrash
(Member)

Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi
(Member)

Committee Functions
and Achievements during
the year

Regular review of the
company’s financial
statements and the
observations made by the
external auditors.
Consult the board on
the appointment of the
External auditors and
monitor their activities.
Monitor the company
internal audit function
and recommend the
appointment and
termination of the internal
auditor.

Ensure compliance with
the rules and regulations
of the regulatory
authorities.

Update the HR Dept.
Charter

Evaluate systems and
mechanisms of identifying,
measuring and monitoring
various types of risks that
may face the company

as well as the company’s
acceptable risk level.
Prepare regular reports
on the company’s risk
exposure and present
these reports to the
Board.

Measure the impact

of the novel corona

virus pandemic on the
company.

Approve the renumeration
of the Board of

Directors and Executive
Management.

Evaluate Board of
Directors and Board
Committees

Ensure that Members

of a Board of Directors
independency is valid.

A summary of how to apply the requirements that allow the Members of the Board of
Directors to obtain accurate and timely information and data:

The Company has made all information available to Board Members that enables them to carry out their
supervisory role over the Executive Management. Any meetings may be arranged with the Executive Management
through the Board Secretary. Board Members, especially Independent Members, are encouraged to visit the
Company with or without the presence of the Top Management. In addition, if Board Members have any query
or question about any information or documents, they are free to approach the Board Secretary first so that he
can coordinate with the respective department Manager and the Board Member.

15
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Rule 03: Recruit Highly Qualified Candidates for the Board of Directors & Executive
Management

Brief about the application of the formation requirements of the nominations and
remunerations Committee:

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has been formed in accordance with corporate governance rules
and regulations issued by Capital Markets Authority taking into consideration the following requirements in the
selection of Committee Members:

1. The Committee is comprised of three members.
2. The Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive Board Member.
3. Chairman of the Board or CEO may be a Committee Member.

The objective of this committee is to attract highly experienced skilled Employees and to retain Employees with
potential. Hence improving the competitive edge of the Company by carrying out the following functions and
responsibilities:

1. Develop a clear remuneration policy for Board Members and executive management.

2. Ensure that the remuneration policy is in line with the interest of the Shareholders.

3. Prepare a detailed annual report to the Shareholders on the remuneration given to the Board Members and
Executive Management.

4. Recommend on the nomination of Executive positions.

Report on the remunerations to the Members of the Board of Directors and Executive
Management:

The Board of Directors has proposed a bonus to be paid to the Independent Board Members for the year ended

31st December 2019 an amount of 20,000 KD (subject to the AGM approval). Whereas, there has not been any
bonus paid for the executive management or staff members for the year ended 31st December 2020.

16
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Rule 04: Safeguard the Integrity of Financial Reporting

Written undertakings by both the Board of Directors and the Executive Management of
the soundness and integrity of the prepared financial reports:

The Executive Management have submitted a written undertaking that the Company’s financial reports are
provided in a sound and fair manner, presented all financial aspects of the Company, including data and
operational results, and prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards approved by
the Capital Markets Authority. Moreover, the annual report submitted to Shareholders includes the Board’s
undertaking / acknowledgement of the soundness and integrity of all financial statements and reports related to
the Company’s activities.

Brief about the application of the formation requirements of the audit committee:

The Audit Committee was formed in accordance with the corporate governance rules and regulations issued
by Capital Markets Authority, taking into consideration the following requirements in the selection of Committee
Members:

Committee to be formed of at least three members including an Independent Member.

Chairman of the Board and CEO shall not be Committee Members.

Chairman of Committee shall be a Non-Executive Board Member.

Committee shall include at least a member of educational qualification and/or practical experience in the
accounting and financial fields.

PN~

In case of any conflicts between the recommendations of the audit committee and
the resolutions of the Board of Directors, a statement shall be included detailing and
clarifying the recommendations and the reason(s) of the Board of Directors non-
compliance therewith:

There has been no conflict between the Audit Committee recommendations and Board decisions which would
require a detailed statement that explains such conflicts.

Verification of the independence and neutrality of the external Auditor:
The Company takes into account the principles and rules of Capital Markets Authority towards ensuring
independence and neutrality of External Auditors. Following the best governance practices, the Company shall

evaluate the External Auditor on annual basis based on a specific mechanism focusing on the performance,
professionalism and independence under the supervision of the Audit Committee.

17
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Rule 05: Apply Sound Systems of Risk Management and Internal Audit

A brief statement on the application of the formation requirements of a department/ an
office/ an independent unit of risk management:

The Company has appointed a Risk Management Coordinator whose responsibility is to identify and monitor the
risks associated with the Company’s activities. As a result, the Company’s risk exposure has been evaluated by
preparing periodic reports to the Risk Management Committee. As best practice measures, the Risk Management
Coordinator is fully independent by reporting directly to the Board through the Risk Management Committee
without granting him any financial authorities.

A brief about the application of the formation requirements of the risk management
committee:

Risk Management Committee is formed in accordance with corporate governance rules and regulations issued
by Capital Markets Authority, taking into account the following requirements in the selection of the Committee
Members:

1. Committee to be formed of at least three members, including an Independent Member.
2. Chairman of the Board shall not be a Committee Member.
3. Chairman of Committee shall be a Non-Executive Board Member.

Summary clarifying the control and internal audit systems:

The Company has a good internal control environment that includes all company activities. The organizational
structure of the Company supports the dual audit (Four Eyes Principles). An external office has been appointed
to prepare an Internal Control Review (ICR) report which allows the Company to identify and address the
weaknesses of such controls.

A brief statement on the application of the formation requirements the internal audit
department / office / unit:

The Audit Committee considered the cost/benefit of establishing an internal audit unit within the Company or
appoint an external firm to carry out the internal audit activities. As a result, the Committee decided to appoint an
external firm to cooperate with the Company’s internal Audit Coordinator to carry out such activities. The Audit
Committee should ensure the efficiency of the Company’s operations and that the internal audit structure covers
all the Company’s areas of activities.

18
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Rule 06: Promote Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards

A summary of the business charter including standards and determinants of code of
conduct and ethical standards:

The code of conduct and ethical standards charter the company adopted guides the company’s dealings with all
clients, employees, and the community in which it operates. Implementing this charter is considered one of the
most important components of the corporate governance framework. The Board and Executive Management are
fully committed to support the application of these standards regardless of the potential negative consequences.
Failure to adhere to these standards will be investigated and may lead to disciplinary action being taken or refer
certain cases to the regulatory authorities.

The Company is also committed to achieving the highest levels of governance and has established those values
by applying measures to maintain confidentiality of information by adopting a Whistle-blowing policy which
encourages Employees to report any complaint related to bad behavior / illegal or unprofessional actions. The
company aims to provide new tools for better communication and to allow whistleblowers to disclose their
communications in full confidentiality.

Summary of the policies and mechanisms on reducing the conflicts of interest:

Conflict of interest occurs when the interest of an Employee is in conflict with that of the Company. In order to
ensure maximum levels of transparency and objectivity, the Company at all times ensures that its transactions
are carried out on the basis of equality, fairness and integrity. The policy of related party transactions has been
reviewed and considered to be consistent with the Company’s activities. In addition, the Company adopted
a set of procedures regulating disclosure of potential conflicts of interest and the mechanism of addressing
it. The Audit Committee is generally responsible for implementing the policy of conflict of interest as well as
monitoring and reviewing the implementation of its procedures. However, the audit committee may delegate
the daily responsibilities of overseeing the compliance and the implementation of that policy and procedures to
whom it sees fit.

Procedures for Mitigating Conflict of Interest:

1. Board members and senior officers should not have any direct or indirect interest in the contracts and
transactions of Company unless approved by General Assembly or was done at “arm’s length” or at
competitive market rates.

2. The Company should not grant any unauthorized credit facility or provide any guarantee to a board member.

3. The employees shall not offer, ask for, provide or accept anything of value for favorable treatment from the
Company, customers, suppliers or potential suppliers or others

4. Those applying for tenders, contracts, supplying goods, for employment or rendering services, have to
declare their interests including relationships with Director or Senior officers with the Company.
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Rule 07: Ensure Timely and High-Quality Disclosure & Transparency

Summary of the application of mechanisms for presentation and accurate and transparent disclosure that define
aspects, areas and characteristics of disclosure:

The company aim is to enhance the accountability of the Company and its management, towards its stakeholders
in general by giving access to the accurate and consistent information that will enable them to understand its
governance, strategy, policies, activities, practices and facilitate evaluation of its performance. In compliance
with the requirements of CMA, the company applies the policy of disclosure and transparency on the Board
of directors and employees of the company. The Company shall consistently make disclosures of inside
information that is precise, has not been made public, relates directly or indirectly to the company; and if made
public, would have a significant effect on the price of the company’s shares. The policy includes [a] methods for
disclosing financial and non-financial information [b] ways to disclose all information transparently, in a timely
manner, without discrimination [c] procedures through which information is categorized in terms of its material
importance, nature and periodicity.

The Company made the following disclosures during the year:

The issuance of the interim financial statements.

List of Insiders.

The shareholders who hold 5% or more of the company’s share capital.

BOD meeting results.

All transactions made in the company’s treasury shares.

Announcement of the Annual General Assembly meeting and its results.

Impact of the Incidents Resulted from the Novel Corona Virus Pandemic on the Financial Statements.

Nookowh =

Brief about the application of the requirements of the Board of Directors disclosure
and executive management disclosures:

The Company has in place a record of the disclosures and declarations made by Board Members and Executive
Management available for review by all Company Shareholders free of charge. In addition, the Company is
committed to update the aforesaid record’s information on a regular basis to reflect the current state of these
persons.

A brief statement on the application of the formation requirements of a unit of
investors affairs:

The Company established a unit for handling Investors’ affairs which is in charge of providing information and
reports required for its potential Investors. This unit is run by the Account’s Manager but under the supervision
of the CEO. Moreover, policies and procedures have been put in place to ensure proper independence of the
Investors’ affairs unit which enables these Investors to have timely access to relevant information and reports.
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Brief on how to develop the infrastructure for the information technology on which it
shall significantly rely on in the disclosure processes:

The Company seeks to further enhance the use of its IT functions to build proper communication channels with
Shareholders, Investors and Stakeholders. A corporate governance section has been created in the Company’s
website, in which all updated information is made available to assist Shareholders and Investors to exercise their
rights to evaluate the Company’s performance.

Rule 08: Respect the Rights of Shareholders

A summary of the application of the requirements for the identification and protection
of the general rights of shareholders, in order to ensure fairness and equality amongst
all shareholders:

The Company enforces the application of the shareholders rights policy to ensure that Shareholders have timely
access to the company information; including its financial performance, objectives, corporate governance and
the Company’s risk exposure. This will enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an efficient manner and
allow Shareholders and Investors to easily interact with the Company.

The following are the general rights of a shareholder mentioned in the Company’s articles of association:

1. The permission included in the Companies Law to adopt the Accumulative Voting system when electing
Members of a Board of Directors in the general assembly.

2. Any shareholder shall be entitled to authorize another person to attend to the general assembly in accordance
with a special proxy or an authorization prepared by the company for this purpose.

3. Allow shareholders to participate effectively in the general assembly and vote on the resolutions thereof.

4. Develop an apparent policy for profits distribution of various types (cash/ non-cash) so that shareholders’
and company’s interests are accomplished.

5. The general assembly shall disclose the proposed profits distribution and the date of distribution.

6. When preparing the general assembly’s agenda, the Board of Directors shall consider adding the matters /
items that shareholders wants to discuss to the agenda of general assembly.

A summary of the creation of a special record at the Clearing Agency as part of the
requirements for on-going monitoring of shareholders’ data:

A record is kept with the Clearing Company that contains the names, nationalities, address and number of shares
of each Shareholder of Ajial. Any changes to this information are updated accordingly. Any Stakeholder may
request access to information in the aforesaid record from Ajial or the Clearing Company.

Brief on how to encourage shareholders to participate and vote in the company’s
general assembly meetings:

The Company encourages Shareholders to exercise their rights to participate in the Company’s Annual General

Meeting and vote regardless of their level or position. The Company’s Shareholders’ rights policy sets out the
mechanism of participation and voting in the Annual General Meetings.
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Rule 09: Recognize the Roles of Stakeholders

Brief about conditions and policies that ensure protection and recognition of the rights
of stakeholders:

As mentioned in the stakeholder’s policy the company is committed towards its stakeholders as follows:

1.

2.

Stakeholders: To achieve sustainable value for stakeholders and strive to achieve good financial returns and
work for the benefit of the stakeholders.

Suppliers and service providers: Dealing in a direct and clear manner and on the basis of trust. Striving to
build and maintain good relationships with suppliers and service providers, and the company must ensure
that information related to them is kept confidential

Employees: Dealing with employees with dignity and respect and providing equal job opportunities to
all employees in the field of employment, which included matters related to recruitment, compensation /
benefits, professional development and promotions. It is the duty of the Board of Directors to provide a safe
and healthy work environment Taking into consideration respect for human and employee rights.
Society: Participation in improving the standard of living wherever the company operates and ensuring that
resources are used reasonably in order to preserve the environment. The company’s Board of Directors aim
that the society is able to benefit from the company’s efforts in public, charitable and other social activities.

Brief on how to encourage stakeholders to keep track of the company’s various
activities:

The Company allows Stakeholders to access information relevant to the Company’s activities in an easy and
timely manner. All Stakeholders are welcomed to express their views about the Company. The Company’s
policies encourage Stakeholders to inform the Board of any practices prohibited in the Whistleblowing policy.
The company and the stakeholders must also ensure the confidentiality of the information, and the two parties
should conclude an agreement in this regard.
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Rule 10: Encourage and Enhance Performance

A summary of the application of the requirements for the development of mechanisms
that allow Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management to attend
the training programs and courses regularly:

The purpose of the Board of Directors & Executive Management training policy & procedures is to train the
Company’s directors and members of the executive management, to identify the area of improvement and to
articulate the Company’s organizational goals for properly managing operations of the Company and also to
keep them abreast with the latest developments in the administrative, financial and economic fields.

Board Members and Executive Management performance is evaluated each year. Thus, the Company provides
ongoing training programs for Board and Executive Management as per their training requirements. Professional/
Personal development activities for members must be approved in advance by the Board of Directors for which
a training budget is prepared.

Brief on how to evaluate the performance of the Board as a whole, and the
performance of each Member of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management:

The Company applies a self-appraisal policy for the Board and each Member separately through a set of questions
which allows each Member to evaluate themselves. In order to evaluate their achievements and assess the
challenges faced, and how it impacted the work quality and performance. Eventually this will help them to benefit
from the process and become more efficient. The company uses Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to evaluate
its Executive Management. At the end of the year a comprehensive evaluation is done for each employee by
their respective managers. This evaluation is based on weights and percentages, that differ for every employee,
to measure the employee’s performance in achieving his/her goals.

An overview of the Board of Director’s efforts in asserting the importance of corporate
value creation with the employees at the company through achieving the company’s
strategic goals and improving key performance indicators:

The Board of Directors is committed to develop an integrated reporting system to be a communication tool by
setting out mechanisms relevant to corporate strategy, governance, performance and future expectations. This
will create value in the long term and bridge the gap between current company reports and the information
required by the investors in order to evaluate investment values and company forecasts etc.
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Rule 11: Focus on the Importance of Corporate Social Responsibility

A summary of the development of a policy to ensure a balance between each of the
company goals and society goals:

Corporate Social Responsibility [CSR] represents the continuous commitment of the Company through ethical
behaviour, to achieve sustainable development for society in general and its employees in particular. The Board
of Directors sets out the CSR policies and procedures for balancing social and environmental objectives with
the Company’s economic objectives and as part of its initiatives to fulfil its social responsibility to stakeholders,
employees, community and environment in the course of conducting its business operations.

The Board, Human Resources [HR] department and employees are allocated CSR responsibilities as
follows:

Board of directors:

«  Oversight of social and environmental risk management and CSR performance

«  Ensure a balance between the Company’s objectives and the Community’s objectives

«  Highlight the Company’s efforts in community service by implementing specific mechanisms and programs,
establishing performance benchmarks, comparison with peers and CSR work plans

Human Resources:

«  Creating CSR awareness through educational programs for employees

+  Planning and implementing awareness programs for community to identify the social responsibility according
to clear mechanisms and highlighting the issues that contribute to social development.

Employees:
«  All employees are responsible for implementing CSR activities as formulated by the Board on an ongoing
basis. Employee involvement is a critical success factor for CSR performance.

Brief about the programs and mechanisms helping to highlight the company’s efforts
exerted in the field of social work:

In order to achieve and maintain a proper balance between Socio-Environmental objectives and the
Company’s business objectives, the Company aims to meet its obligation towards Society, Stakeholders,
Employees, and the Environment by immersing in the field of Social work which includes but not limited
to the following:

+  To support national manpower and boost its competitive edge and efficiency.

Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah
Vice Chairman
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Audit Committee Report
For the Year Ended on 31 December 2020

Introduction

The Committee is comprised of three members, as follows:

1. Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Sabah (Head of Committee )
2. Mr. Mohamad Abdulrazzak Al Kandari (Member)
3. Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi (Member)

Committee Meetings and Performance/Achievements:

Audit Committee holds its meetings on regular basis at least once each quarter of the year and when
required or necessary. The Committee Secretary prepares the minutes of meeting for each meeting and
keeps track of all of the Committee’s resolutions. The Committee held 4 meetings in 2020. The key
achievements of the Committee during the year are as follows:

+  Ensuring soundness, transparency and integrity of the financial reports by reviewing periodically the financial
statements and submitting their opinions and recommendations to the Board.

+ Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of the External Auditors and monitor their
performance to ensure that they are not providing any other services other than the audit profession.

«  Supervising the Internal Audit activities and provide recommendations on the recruitment and termination of
the Internal Audit firm which carries out such activities for the Company.

+  Reviewing the Internal Audit plan and results of the Internal Audit reports. And resolving all audit observations
on those reports.

+ Viewing the Internal Control Review Report (ICR).

+ Analyzing the applied accounting policies and provide the Board of Directors with opinion and recommendation
in this regard

«  Ensuring the Company complies with all rules and regulations of the regulatory bodies.

Committee Opinion on Company Internal Control Process

As per Committee follow up and supervision of internal audit in 2020, and based on risk assessment, the
Committee believes that the Company has adequate and efficient internal control environment in place, as no
material weaknesses were found, and no failures have been detected in the internal control systems.

The Executive Management continues to implement internal controls in a manner ensuring protection of the
Company assets and integrity of financial statements. Along with the efficiency of the operational activities of the
Company with its financial, administrative and accounting processes.

Excellent cooperation and coordination at the professional and practical level remains in place with Internal
Auditors, which was reinforced by holding regular meetings to exchange information on matters related to Audit,
Administrative Control and Risk Management. Also, continuous communication of strategies, annual reports and
individual plans have been made between the Internal Auditors and Executive Management to ensure adequate
and efficient supervision in order to address any weaknesses and failures.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders
of Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P.

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. (the
“Parent Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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a) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties of the Group represent a significant portion of the total assets as at 31 December 2020
and are carried at fair value. The management of the Group determines the fair value of its investment properties
on periodical basis and uses external appraisers to support the valuation at year-end. The valuation of the
investment properties at fair value is highly dependent on estimates and assumptions such as rental value,
occupancy rates, discount rates, financial stability of tenants, market knowledge and historical transactions.
In addition, the significant impact of the COVID- 19 pandemic has led to additional uncertainty in arriving at
reasonable assumptions. Further, the disclosures relating to the assumptions are relevant, given the estimation
uncertainty and sensitivity of the valuations. Due to the size and complexity of the valuation of investment
properties and the importance of the disclosures relating to the assumptions used in the valuation, we identified
this as a key audit matter. The Group’s policies for fair valuation of investment properties are presented in
accounting policies in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

+  We have reviewed the assumptions and estimates made by the management and the external appraisers,
appropriateness of the valuation technique and reasonableness of data used in the valuation.

+  We have evaluated the management’s sensitivity analysis to ascertain the impact of reasonably possible
changes to key assumptions on the fair value of properties such as rental income, occupancy rates, discount
rates, and historical transactions.

+  We have considered the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external appraisers.

+  We assessed that the significant assumptions and related uncertainties are appropriately reflected in the
sensitivity disclosure in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

b) Impairment of investment in associates

The carrying value and the related share of results of investment in associates is significant to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and to the Group’s results. The Group assesses if there are any indicators
of impairment in the carrying value of its investment in associates. Such assessment considers any significant
adverse changes in economy, market, legal environment, industry or the political environment. Accordingly, we
have considered this as a key audit matter. The accounting policies relating to investment in an associate is given
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

+ We evaluated management’s considerations of the impairment indicators of investment in associates.

+ In such consideration, we assessed whether any decline in value exists, significant adverse changes in the
economy, market, legal environment, industry or the political environment in which the associates operate,
structural changes in the industry in which the associates operate, changes in the political environment
affecting the associates business and changes in the associates’ financial condition.

The disclosures relating to Group’s investment in associates are given in Note 5 of the consolidated financial
statement
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Other information included in the Group’s 2020 Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Group’s 2020 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s
report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating
to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that, we obtained all
the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial
statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No 1 of 2016, as amended, and
its executive regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge
and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No 1 of 2016, as amended, and its executive regulations, as
amended, nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended,
have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a material effect on the business
of the Parent Company or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any violations of the
provisions of Law No 7 of 2010 concerning the Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations during the
year ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or
on its financial position.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
KD KD

Rental and services income 874,088 1,714,801
Property operating expenses (272,803) (517,509)
Net rental income 601,285 1,197,292
Change in fair value of investment properties 4 (1,089,400) (850,000)
Share of result from associates 5 3,051,473 2,990,969
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (76,307) (444,629)
Realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit - (124,683)
or loss
Dividend income 62,500 65,000
Net investment income 1,948,266 2,136,657
Total operating income 2,549,551 3,333,949
Administrative expenses (779,984) (806,299)
Allowance for expected credit losses (39,506) (2,637)
Net operating income 1,730,061 2,525,013
Other income 170,992 147,505
Finance costs (466,642) (561,323)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE CONTRIBUTION TO NATIONAL 1,434,411 2,111,195
LABOUR SUPPORT TAX (NLST) AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION
NLST (38,492) (59,613)
Board of Directors’ remuneration 18 (20,000) (50,000)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,375,919 2,001,582
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 3 7.11 fils 10.35 fils

* The attached notes 1 to 24 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2020 (continued)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Other comprehensive income (loss) that may be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods:

Foreign currency translation adjustments of an associate

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

* The attached notes 1 to 24 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2020 (continued)

Consolidated statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes KD KD
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 336,658 371,651
Investment properties 4 72,244,626 66,055,553
Investment in associates 5 71,910,996 70,825,737
Receivable from sublease 255,715 1,000,277
144,747,995 138,253,218
Current assets
Receivable from sublease 744,561 711,858
Account receivables and prepayments 1,280,729 1,807,856
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 1,510,721 1,587,028
Wakala investment deposits 8 580,000 330,000
Bank balances and cash 6 1,901,396 382,713
6,017,407 4,819,455
TOTAL ASSETS 150,765,402 143,072,673
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 9 19,448,100 18,522,000
Share premium 5,199,430 5,199,430
Statutory reserve 10 1,437,410 1,293,969
Voluntary reserve 11 1,253,779 1,110,338
Capital surplus 12 - 759,234
Treasury shares 14 (319,250) (819,250)
Effect of change in accounting policy of investment properties 46,118,487 46,118,487
Foreign currency translation reserve (26,379) (64,905)
Retained earnings 52,805,332 51,883,161
Total equity 125,916,909 124,502,464
Non-current liabilities
Employees’ end of service benefits 292,258 226,498
Account payables and accruals 15 740,060 1,469,771
Murabaha payables 16 20,400,000 14,200,000
21,432,318 15,896,269
Current liabilities
Account payables and accruals 15 3,217,749 2,671,524
Bank overdraft 6 198,426 2,416
3,416,175 2,673,940
Total liabilities 24,848,493 18,570,209
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 150,765,402 143,072,673
/.L
Shk. Ali Abdulla Al Khalifah Al Sabah Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah
Chairman Vice Chairman

* The attached notes 1 to 24 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2020 (continued)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share Share

capital premium Statutory reserve Voluntary reserve

KD KD KD KD

As at 1 January 2020 18,522,000 5,199,430 1,293,969 1,110,338

Profit for the year - - - -

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Transfer to reserves - - 143,441 143,441

Issue of bonus shares (Note 9) 926,100 - - -

As at 31 December 2020 19,448,100 5,199,430 1,437,410 1,253,779

Share Share

capital premium Statutory reserve Voluntary reserve

KD KD KD KD

As at 1 January 2019 18,522,000 5,199,430 1,082,849 899,218

Impact on adoption of IFRS 16 - - - -

at 1 January 2019

Restated balance at 1 January 2019 18,522,000 5,199,430 1,082,849 899,218

Profit for the year - - - -

Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - -

Total comprehensive (loss) income - - - -
for the year

Transfer to reserves - - 211,120 211,120

As at 31 December 2019 18,522,000 5,199,430 1,293,969 1,110,338

* The attached notes 1 to 24 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Effect of change
in accounting
policy of Foreign currency

investment translation Total
Capital surplus Treasury shares properties reserve Retained earnings equity
KD KD KD KD KD KD
759,234 (319,250) 46,118,487 (64,905) 51,883,161 124,502,464
- - - - 1,375,919 1,375,919
- - - 38,526 - 38,526
- - - 38,526 1,375,919 1,414,445
- - - - (286,882) -
(759,234) - - - (166,866) -
- (319,250) 46,118,487 (26,379) 52,805,332 125,916,909

Effect of change

in accounting

policy of
investment Foreign currency Total
Capital surplus Treasury shares properties translation reserve Retained earnings equity
KD KD KD KD KD KD
759,234 (319,250) 46,118,487 (49,726) 50,094,927 122,307,169
- - - - 208,892 208,892
759,234 (8319,250) 46,118,487 (49,726) 50,303,819 122,516,061
- - - - 2,001,582 2,001,582
- - - (15,179) - (15,179)
- - - (15,179) 2,001,582 1,986,403
- - - - (422,240) -
759,234 (819,250) 46,118,487 (64,905) 51,883,161 124,502,464

* The attached notes 1 to 24 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2020 (continued)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes KD KD
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,375,919 2,001,582
Profit for the year
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash flows:
Change in fair value of investment properties 4 1,089,400 350,000
Share of result from associates 5 (3,051,473) (2,990,969)
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 76,307 444,629
Realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 124,683
Dividend income (62,500) (65,000)
Interest income (67,833) (101,574)
Depreciation 89,696 80,997
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 65,760 63,596
Allowance for expected credit losses 39,506 2,637
Finance costs 466,642 561,323
21,424 471,904
Working capital adjustments:
Account receivables and prepayments 487,621 229,168
Account payables and accruals (84,994) 80,517
Cash flows from operating activities 424,051 781,589
Employees’ end of service benefits paid - (1,783)
Net cash flows from operating activities 424,051 779,806
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Advance payment to contractor - (1,865,000)
Additions to property and equipment (1,070) (1,584)
Additions to investment properties 4 (6,760,385) (2,679,845)
Return of capital (additions) to investment in associates 5 228,033 (2,030,577)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 265,137
Additions to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - (3,556)
Dividend received from associates 5 1,776,707 1,066,025
Dividend income 62,500 65,000
Net movement in wakala investment deposits (250,000) (330,000)
Interest income received 67,833 101,574
Lease collection received 711,859 680,593
Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,164,523) (4,732,233)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (914) (5,537)
Finance costs paid (466,642) (561,323)
Lease payments (669,299) (689,565)
Murabaha finance facilities available 6,200,000 4,200,000
Net cash flows from financing activities 5,063,145 2,943,575
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,322,673 (1,008,852)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 380,297 1,389,149
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 6 1,702,970 380,297
Non-cash transactions:
Utilization of advance payment to contractor 518,088 263,072
Additions to investment properties (518,088) (263,072)

* The attached notes 1 to 24 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

36



Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. (the “Parent
Company”) and its Subsidiary (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 10 February 2021. The General Assembly
of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after
their issuance.

The Parent Company is a Kuwaiti public shareholding company registered and incorporated in Kuwait on 26
October 1996.

The Parent Company activities are as follows:

« All real estate activities including buying and selling lands, real estate and renting and leasing thereof inside
and outside Kuwait

« Establish and maintain buildings and real estate projects including establishment of residential complexes
thereof;

+ Establish commercial markets and entertainment centres, touristic facilities and building special
accommodations;

«  Perform all contracting works and trade in building materials requires for real estates and invest in companies
and projects shares with similar objects to the Parent Company’s;

+  Prepare studies for real estate projects, whether general of private and execute thereof directly or by proxy;

+ Manage properties inside or outside Kuwait and perform works which helps it to achieve its objectives;

+  Manage real estate portfolios for its accounts or for third parties and the Parent Company may have interest or
take part in any aspect with persons and companies, establishments and entities which manage or practice
works with similar objects or which may cooperate with it to achieve its objectives or be merged therein or
buy thereof, or be affiliated thereto.

The Parent Company’s shares are listed on Boursa Kuwait.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 were approved by the
shareholders of the Parent Company at the Annual General Assembly Meeting (AGM) held on 25 June 2020. No

dividends were declared by the parent company.

The registered head office of the Parent Company is located at Al Hamra Tower, 26th Floor, Office No. 2, P.O.
Box 22448, Safat 13085, Kuwait.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified to include the
measurement at fair value of investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is also the functional
and presentation currency of the Parent Company.

2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiary
as at 31 December 2020.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

«  Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee);

«  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

+ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

+ The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

* Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
«  The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

38



Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling
interests, and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Consideration received and any investment retained are recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position at fair value. It also reclassifies any share of components previously recognised in
OCI to the consolidated statement of profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Details of the subsidiary included in the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Effective interest in equity

Country of Principal activities
Name of the company incorporation 2020 2019
Al Hamra Cinema Company Kuwait 98% 98% Entertainment
K.S.C. (Closed) services

The Parent Company effectively owns 100% equity interest in the above entity. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on this basis. The ownership of 2% (2019: 2%) is registered in the name
of related parties as nominees. However, the Parent Company is the beneficial owner for 100% equity interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with
those used in the previous financial year, except for the adoption of following new and amended standards
effective as of 1 January 2020.

New and amended standards and interpretations
The Group applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have an impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations
or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

The nature and the impact of each new standard and amendment is described below:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of material

The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
consolidated financial statements make on the basis of those consolidated financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity, “the amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context
of the consolidated financial statements. A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users.

Conceptual Framework for Financial reporting issued on 29 March 2018

The conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override the concepts
or requirements in any standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB in developing
standards, to help preparers develop consistent accounting policies where there is no applicable standard in
place and to assist all parties to understand and interpret the standards. This will affect those entities which
developed their accounting policies based on the Conceptual Framework. The revised Conceptual Framework
includes some new concepts, updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies
some important concepts. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business

The amendment to IFRS 3 clarifies that to be considered a business, an integrated set of activities and assets
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarified that a business can exist without including all of the inputs
and processes needed to create outputs. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but may impact future periods should the Group enter into any business combinations.

Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee
may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A
lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related
rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease
modification.

The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is
permitted. This amendment had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of
issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for

classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

+  What is meant by a right to defer settlement

« That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

+ That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

« That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be
applied retrospectively. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment- Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits
entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and
the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments are not expected
to have a material impact on the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS
9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received by the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applied the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies
the amendment.

The amendments to the definition of material is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Other new or amended standards which are issued but not yet effective, are not relevant to the Group and have
no impact on the accounting policies, financials position or performance of the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue
arrangements.

The following specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised.

+ Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line
basis over the lease term.

« Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

+ Indetermining the transaction price for the services, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration,
the existence of significant financing components, noncash consideration and consideration payable to the
customer (if any). The Group does not have any effect from these considerations since the Group is acting
as an agent in all its revenue arrangements.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and
all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected
useful life of the related asset.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts
and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of consumption of
the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.

Taxation

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Parent Company calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit for the year in accordance with the
modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which states that income from
associates and subsidiaries and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when
determining the contribution.

National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

The Parent Company calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance
Resolutions No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. As per law, income from associates and
subsidiaries, cash dividend from listed companies which are subjected to NLST have been deducted from the
profit for the year.

Zakat

Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year in accordance with the requirements of the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate
of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets
and then its recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. Where
the carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount by recognizing impairment
loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
cash-generating unit). In determining fair value less costs to sell an appropriate valuation model is used. These
calculations are corroborated by available fair value indicators.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairmentloss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the
date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate
of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the

exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in
administrative expenses.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets include
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired process is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, and the
inputs acquired include an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform
that process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered unique
or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within
the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not
within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired
and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at
the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over
the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

a. Right of use assets

The Group recognises right of use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right of use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right of use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right of use
assets are subject to impairment.

b. Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental profit rate at the lease
commencement date if the profit rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of profit and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.

Finance costs

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the period they occur. Finance costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowings.
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Investment properties

Investment properties comprise properties under development and developed properties that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Properties held under a lease are classified as investment properties
when they are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business or for use in production or administrative functions.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include
professional fees for legal services, commissions and other costs to bring the property to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing
investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of
day to day servicing of an investment property.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of
change in use.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment property would result in either
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of the investment property. Any gains or losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period of derecognition.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment in associates
The Group’s investment in its associates is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. An associate
is an entity in which the Group has significant influence.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill
relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised nor separately
tested for impairment.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate.
Where there has been a change recognised directly in the other comprehensive income of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in other comprehensive income.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to
the extent of the interest in the associate.

The Group’s share of profit of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and represents profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate. The financial
statements of the associate are prepared for no more than three-month difference in reporting period with the
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Upon loss of
significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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Financial instruments - initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition

i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, and fair value
through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
account receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Account receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at
the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment
is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group’s financial assets includes account receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
wakala investmnet deposits, bank balances and cash.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

« The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

« The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces,
an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised when:

« therights to receive the cash flows from the asset have expired; or

« the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower

of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

49



Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).

For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For account receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transactions costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank overdraft, murabaha payables, account payables and accruals.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Murabaha payables
Murabaha payables is an Islamic agreement which represents the amount payable, on a deferred settlement
basis, exceeding one year for assets purchased under Murabaha arrangements.

Account payables and accruals

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by
the supplier or not.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

« In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

+ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:
*  Level1
Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
+  Level 2
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable
+  Level3
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above. An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are
provided in Note 23.

Treasury shares

The Parent Company’s own shares are accounted for as treasury shares and are stated at cost. When the
treasury shares are sold, gains are credited to a separate account in equity (treasury shares reserve) which is
non-distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that
account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then reserves. Gains realised subsequently on the
sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained
earnings and the treasury shares reserve account. No cash dividends are distributed on these shares. The issue
of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share
without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Employees’ end of service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits to all its employees under the Kuwait Labour Law. The entitlement
to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to completion of a
minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.

Further, with respect to its national employees, the Group also makes contributions to Public Institution for Social
Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these
contributions, which are expensed when due.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation amount can be made.

Segment information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

52



Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification of financial assets

The Group determines the classification of financial assets based on the assessment of the business model
within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely
payments of principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding.

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers
all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within
its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business
strategy).

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a substantial portion of the economic life of the commercial property, that it retains all the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification of investment properties

The Group classifies property as investment properties if it is acquired to generate rental income, for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the
control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties under development and developed investment properties is determined
based on valuation performed annually by independent professional real estate valuation experts who have the
required qualifications and experience in valuing such types of properties using recognised valuation techniques
recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee, except if such value cannot be reliably
determined in the case of investment properties under development.

The fair value of investment properties under development is determined using a combination of the sales
comparison approach for the land and cost approach for the construction work. The fair value of developed
investment properties which generate rental income is determined using the income capitalization approach;
whereas, the fair value of developed investment properties which do not generate rental income is determined
using the sales comparison approach based on recent transactions for properties with characteristics and
location similar to those of the Group’s properties.

Impairment of investment in associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment
loss on its investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective
evidence that the investment in the associates is impaired. If such evidence exists, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the investment and its carrying
value, then recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury shares). Diluted earnings per share is calculated
by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year
(excluding treasury shares) plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the
conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. As at the reporting date, the Group
had no outstanding dilutive potential shares. As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted
earnings per share are identical.

2020 2019
Profit for the year (KD) 1,375,919 2,001,582
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 193,423,511 198,423,511
(excluding treasury shares)
Basic and diluted earnings per share 7.11 fils 10.35 fils

Basic and diluted earnings per share calculations for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been adjusted to
take into account the issuance of bonus shares (Note 9).

4 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2020 2019

KD KD

At 1 January 66,055,553 63,462,636

Additions 7,278,473 2,942,917

Change in fair value of investment properties (1,089,400) (350,000)

At 31 December 72,244,626 66,055,553
Investment properties are categorised as follows:

2020 2019

KD KD

Property under development 46,224,626 39,486,553

Developed properties 26,020,000 26,569,000

72,244,626 66,055,553
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4 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, an investment property with fair value of KD 67,924,626 (2019: KD 61,386,553) is
pledged as a security against Murabaha payables of KD 20,400,000 (31 December 2019: pledged as a security
against Murabaha payables of KD 14,200,000) (Note 16) and bank overdraft of KD 198,426 (31 December 2019:
KD 2,416) (Note 6).

The fair value of investment properties has been determined based on valuations performed by two independent

professional real estate valuers, who are industry specialised in valuing such type of investment properties. One

of these valuers is a local bank and the other is a local reputable accredited valuer. Both valuers have used the

following methods:

+  Properties under development has been valued using a combination of the sales comparison approach for
the land and cost approach for the construction work.

+ Developed properties which generates rental income has been valued using the income capitalisation
approach.

For valuation purpose, the Group has selected the lower of these two valuations (2019: the lower of two valuations)
carried out within the time range which is one month before or after the reporting date as required by the Capital
Market Authority (CMA). Based on these valuations, the Group has recorded a loss from change in fair value of
KD 1,089,400 (2019: loss of KD 350,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All investment properties are categorised in level 2 and level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

The significant assumptions made relating to valuation of the developed property, that has been valued
using the income capitalization approach, are set out below:

2020 2019
Average rent (per sgm) (KD) 9.8 9.7
Yield rate 6.7% 6.5%
Vacancy rate 0.5% 0.3%

Sensitivity analysis
The table below presents the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the most significant assumptions underlying
the valuation of the investment properties.

Impact on profit for the year

Changes in

valuation 2020 2019

assumptions KD KD
Average rent +1% 217,175 219,119
Yield rate + 50 BP 161,264 169,769
Vacancy rate +1% 32,570 36,649
Percentage of operating expenses to annual rental income +1% 248,230 254,821
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The Group has the following investment in associates:

Country of
Name of company incorporation Effective interest in equity
2020 2019 Year- end Principal activities
Al Hamra Real Estate Company K.S.C. Kuwait 35.53% 35.583% 31 October Real estate
(Closed) activities
Al Madar Al Thahabia Company W.L.L. Saudi Arabia 24% 24% 31 December Real estate
(“Al Madar”) activities

Movement in the carrying amount of investment in associates during the year is as follows:

2020 2019

KD KD

As at 1 January 70,825,737 66,885,395
Share of results 3,051,473 2,990,969
(Return of capital) additions (228,033) 2,030,577
Dividend received (1,776,707) (1,066,025)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 38,526 (15,179)
As at 31 December 71,910,996 70,825,737

The following tables illustrates the summarized financial information of the Group’s investment
in associates:

Al Madar Al Al Hamra Real

Thahabia Estate Company
Associates statement of financial Company W.L.L. K.S.C. (Closed) 2020 2019
position: KD KD KD KD
Non-current assets 34,456,989 267,265,149 301,722,138 301,540,820
Current assets 614,040 11,159,055 11,773,095 8,672,009
Non-current liabilities (67,885) (89,146,853) (89,214,738) (92,200,179)
Current liabilities (910,443) (9,911,327) (10,821,770) (7,458,102)
Equity 34,092,701 179,366,024 213,458,725 210,554,548

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 24% 35.53%
Carrying value of the investment 8,182,248 63,728,748 71,910,99 70,825,737
Revenues 1,706,127 17,056,048 18,762,175 20,232,900
Results 326,428 8,367,944 8,694,372 8,422,819
Other comprehensive income (loss) 160,525 - 160,525 (63,246)
Total comprehensive income 486,953 8,367,944 8,854,897 8,359,573
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are comprised
of the following:

2020 2019

KD KD

Bank balances and cash 1,901,396 382,713
Bank overdraft (198,426) (2,416)
Total cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 1,702,970 380,297

Bank overdraft represent facilities granted by local bank in Kuwaiti Dinars and carries an effective profit rates
of 1.5% (31 December 2019: 1.5%) per annum over the Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate which is secured
against certain investment properties (Note 4).

7 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019

KD KD

Local unquoted equity securities 1,458,552 1,503,375
Managed funds 52,169 83,653
1,510,721 1,587,028

8 WAKALA INVESTMENT DEPOSITS

Wakala investment deposits are denominated in Kuwaiti Dinars, placed with a local bank, carry a fixed profit rate
of 1.319% (31 December 2019: 3.125%) per annum and pledged against letter of credit issued in favour of one
of the Group’s contractor (31 December 2019: KD Nil).
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9 SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital of the Parent Company consists of:

Authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital

2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD Shares Shares
194,481,000 shares of 100 fils each 19,448,100 18,522,000 194,481,000 185,220,000

(31 December 2019: 185,220,000
shares of 100 fils each) and fully paid
in cash.

The share premium is not available for distribution.

On 25 June 2020, the Annual Ordinary General Assembly Meeting (“AGM”) of the Parent Company’s shareholders
approved to issue bonus shares at 5% from the authorised, issued, and paid up share capital (5 shares for each
100 shares) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 2 July 2020, the Extra-Ordinary General Assembly (“EGM”) of the Parent Company’s shareholders approved
the increase of the Parent Company’s authorised, issued, and paid up share capital by issuing 9,261,000 bonus
shares amounting to KD 926,100 to the shareholders registered in the Parent Company’s records. The issuance
of bonus shares were made from the Group’s capital surplus of KD 759,234 (Note 12) and retained earnings of
KD 166,866.

10 STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, a minimum of 10% of the profit for the year before contributions to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and
board of directors’ remuneration shall be transferred to the statutory reserve based on the recommendation of
the Parent Company’s board of directors. The annual general assembly of the Parent Company may resolve to
discontinue such transfer when the reserve exceeds 50% of the issued share capital.

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of
5% of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a
dividend of that amount.

11 VOLUNTARY RESERVE

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, a maximum of 10% of the profit for the year before contributions to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and board
of directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to the voluntary reserve. Such annual transfers may be
discontinued by a resolution of the shareholders’ general assembly upon a recommendation by the Board of
Directors. There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.
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12 CAPITAL SURPLUS

Capital surplus represents an amount due to the previous shareholders of the Parent Company, which was
forfeited during 1996 and transferred to the Parent Company’s shareholders’ equity.

On 2 July 2020, the Extra-Ordinary General Assembly (“EGM”) of the Parent Company’s shareholders approved
the increase of the Parent Company’s authorised, issued, and paid up share capital by issuing 9,261,000 bonus
shares amounting to KD 926,100 to the shareholders registered in the Parent Company’s records. The issuance
of bonus shares was made from the Group’s capital surplus of KD 759,234 and retained earnings of KD 166,866
(Note 9).

13 CASH DIVIDENDS
The Annual General Assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company held on 25 June 2020 declared not to

distribute cash dividends for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

14 TREASURY SHARES

2020 2019
Number of shares 1,057,489 1,007,133
Percentage of issued shares 0.54% 0.54%
Market value (KD) 187,176 182,291
Cost (KD) 319,250 319,250

The weighted average market price of the Parent Company’s shares for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
177 fils per share (31 December 2019: 181 fils per share).

Reserves equivalent to the cost of treasury shares are not available for distribution throughout the year these
shares are held by the Group as per CMA guidelines.
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15 ACCOUNT PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2020 2019

KD KD

Amounts due to contractors and suppliers 926,090 410,137
Rent received in advance from tenants 96,721 91,558
Deposits from tenants 253,981 269,900
Accrued expenses 64,700 185,574
Dividend payable 128,940 129,854
Amounts due to related parties (Note 18) 31,139 1,087
Lease liabilities 1,251,505 1,920,804
Other payables 1,204,733 1,132,431
3,957,809 4,141,295

Account payables and accruals are disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position
as follows:

2020 2019

KD KD

Non-current 740,060 1,469,771
Current 3,217,749 2,671,524
3,957,809 4,141,295

16 MURABAHA PAYABLES

Murabaha payables is obtained from a local bank, denominated in Kuwaiti Dinar and carry an average profit rate
of 1.5% per annum (2019: 1.5% per annum) over the Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate and secured against
investment properties with a carrying value of KD 67,924,626 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: KD 61,386,553)
(Note 4).

17 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash

1 January flows -
2020 in/(out) 31 December 2020
KD KD KD
Dividend payable 129,854 (914) 128,940
Murabaha payables 14,200,000 6,200,000 20,400,000
Lease liabilities 1,920,804 (669,299) 1,251,505
16,250,658 5,529,787 21,780,445

Cash

1 January flows -
2019 in/(out) 31 December 2019
KD KD KD
Dividend payable 135,391 (5,537) 129,854
Murabaha payables 10,000,000 4,200,000 14,200,000
Lease liabilities 2,610,369 (689,565) 1,920,804
12,745,760 3,504,898 16,250,658
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18 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

These represent transactions and balances with major shareholders, directors, executive officers and key
management personnel of the Group, close members of their families and companies of which they are principal
owners or over which they are able to exercise control or significant influence entered into by the Group in
the ordinary course of business. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Parent
Company’s management.

Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Associate 2020 2019
KD KD KD
Rent and other expense (included in property operating expenses 5,044 5,044 5,084

and administrative expenses)

Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Associate 2020 2019

KD KD KD

Amounts due to a related party (Note 15) 31,139 31,139 1,037
Lease liabilities 1,251,505 1,251,505 1,920,804

Amounts due to a related party do not carry any interest and are payable within one year from the reporting date.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group during the year were as follows:

2020 2019

KD KD

Salaries and short-term benefits 159,075 185,257
Employees’ end of service benefits 31,767 30,431
Board of Directors’ remuneration® 20,000 50,000
210,842 265,688

On 10 February 2021, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company proposed a Board of Directors’ remuneration
of KD 20,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: KD 50,000). This proposal was subject
to the approval of the shareholders at the AGM of the Parent Company.

The Annual General Assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders held on 25 June 2020, approved not to

distribute a directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2019. Accordingly, the unutilized amount of
KD 50,000 has been reversed to other income during the year.

19 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has contingent liabilities representing a letter of guarantee amounting to
KD 21,399 (2019: KD 21,399) issued to the Ministry of Finance in respect of its investment properties, from which
it is anticipated that no material liability will arise.
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20 SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on their products and services, and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

+ Real estate investing activities comprises investment and trading in real estate and construction or
development of real estate for the sale in the ordinary course of business and other related real estate
services.

« Equities and other investing activities comprise participation in financial and real estate funds and managing
the Group’s liquidity requirements.

Segment reporting information is as follows:

Equities and
other investing Real estate

activities activities Unallocated Total
31 December 2020 KD KD KD KD
Segment revenue 3,113,973 874,088 170,992 4,159,053
Change in fair value of investment - (1,089,400) - (1,089,400)
properties
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair (76,307) - - (76,307)
value through profit or loss
Finance costs (339,820) - (126,822) (466,642)
Other expenses, net - (272,803) (877,982) (1,150,785)
Segment results 2,697,846 (488,115) (833,812) 1,375,919
Segment assets 73,421,717 72,244,626 5,099,059 150,765,402
Segment liabilities 10,000,000 11,144,665 3,703,828 24,848,493

Equities and
other investing Real estate

activities activities Unallocated Total
31 December 2019 KD KD KD KD
Segment revenue 2,931,286 1,714,801 147,505 4,793,592
Change in fair value of investment - (350,000) - (350,000)
properties
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair (444,629) - - (444,629)
value through profit or loss
Finance costs (461,227) - (100,096) (561,323)
Other expenses, net - (517,509) (918,549) (1,436,058)
Segment results 2,025,430 847,292 (871,140) 2,001,582
Segment assets 72,412,765 66,055,553 4,604,355 143,072,673
Segment liabilities 10,000,000 4,698,814 3,871,395 18,570,209
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. Risk is
inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s
continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his
or her responsibilities.

Market risk is subdivided into profit rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. It is also subject to
operating risks. The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the
environment technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process. The
Board of Directors are ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the
risk strategies and principles.

21.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. Management of the Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit
exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of
counterparties. The maximum credit risk is limited to the carrying values of financial assets appearing on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to tenants of its investment properties by monitoring
outstanding receivables. The Group limits credit risk with regard to its bank balances and wakala investment
deposits by only dealing with reputable banks.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

21.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk can
be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up
immediately. To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets are managed
with liquidity considered, maintaining a healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents, and readily marketable
securities.
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
21.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

The liquidity profile of financial liabilities reflects the projected cash flows which includes future profit rate
payments over the life of these financial liabilities. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s
undiscounted financial liabilities as at 31 December based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations:

Less than 3to 12 1to5 More than 5
3 months months years years Total
KD KD KD KD KD
2020
Murabaha payables 153,000 459,000 11,800,000 11,111,405 23,523,405
Account payables and accruals* 1,129,033 2,029,270 757,271 - 3,915,574
Bank overdraft - 198,426 - - 198,426
Total 1,282,033 2,686,696 12,557,271 11,111,405 27,637,405
Less than 3to12 1to5 More than 5
3 months months years years Total
KD KD KD KD KD
2019
Murabaha payables 150,875 452,625 6,296,187 11,168,750 18,068,437
Account payables and accruals* 605,568 2,039,724 1,523,724 - 4,169,016
Bank overdraft - 2,416 - - 2,416
Total 756,443 2,494,765 7,819,911 11,168,750 22,239,869

* Excluding rent received in advance
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
21.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment or its issuer or factors affecting all
investments traded in the market. Market risk is managed based on pre-determined asset allocations across
various asset categories, diversification of assets in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration,
a continuous appraisal of market conditions and trends and management’s estimate of long and short term
changes in fair value.

21.3.1 Profit rate risk

Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to profit rate risk on its floating profit bearing murabaha
payables (Note 16) and bank overdraft (Note 6).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss to reasonably
possible changes in profit rates, with all other variables held constant:

Increase/ decrease Effect on profit

in basis for the year

points KD

2020 (+/-) 100 205,984
2019 (+/-) 100 142,000

21.3.2 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is not significantly exposed to foreign currency risk as the majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities
are denominated in Kuwaiti Dinars.

21.3.3 Equity price risk

Equity price risk arises from the change in fair values of equity investments. The Group manages this risk through
diversification of investments in terms of industry concentration.

The Group is not exposed to equity price risk as the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
consists investments in unquoted equity securities and managed funds.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business conditions.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019. Capital comprises total equity excluding foreign currency translation reserve and is
measured at KD 125,943,288 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: KD 124,567,369).
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22 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has entered into construction contracts with third parties and is consequently committed to
future capital expenditure in respect of properties under construction amounting to KD 10,481,762 (2019: KD
15,471,226).

23 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments
Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value are not materially
different from their carrying amounts.

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of assets is described in fair value section of
Note 2.5: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

Fair value hierarchy
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:
+  Level1
Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
+  Level 2
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable; and
+  Level 3
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

The following table shows an analysis of the Group’s assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy at 31 December:

Level 3
2020 KD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,510,721
Level 3
2019 KD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,587,028
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The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 financial assets
which are recorded at fair value at 31 December.

Net losses
recorded in the
consolidated Net purchases,
At the beginning  statement of profit transfers, sales At the end of the
of the year or loss and settlements year
2020 KD KD KD KD
Financial assets at fair value through 1,587,028 (76,307) - 1,510,721
profit or loss
2019
Financial assets at fair value through profit 2,417,921 (444,629) (386,264) 1,587,028
or loss

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation of financial assets:

Managed funds:

Managed funds have been valued based on Net Asset Value (NAV) provided by the custodian of the fund. The
information relating to valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs to valuation to compute the
sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs is not available.

Unquoted equity securities:

Significant
Unquoted equity Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of the input
securities techniques inputs Range to fair value
Market multiples DLOM * 10 - 50% 5% increase (decrease) in the discount
approach would decrease (increase) the fair value by

KD 72,928.

* Discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has determined that market participants
would take into account when pricing the investments.
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Non-financial assets

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

KD KD KD KD

2020 - 46,224,626 26,020,000 72,244,626
Investment properties

2019 - 39,486,553 26,569,000 66,055,553

Investment properties

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount
of level 3 non-financial assets which are recorded at fair value at 31 December.

At the Net purchases,
beginning transfers, sales At the
of the year Net losses and settlements end of the year
KD KD KD KD
As at 31 December 2020 26,569,000 (602,400) 53,400 26,020,000
Investment properties
As at 31 December 2019 26,918,000 (350,000) 1,000 26,569,000

Investment properties

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of investment properties:

Investment properties

Property under development

Property under development is valued using a combination of the sales comparison approach for the land and
cost approach for the construction work. Sales comparison approach is based on a comparison of active market
prices for similar properties and recent arm’s length market transactions, adjusted for difference in the nature,
location or condition of the specific property. Estimated cost approach is based on a comparison of the cost
of constructing a similar property taking into consideration depreciation of the construction costs, adjusted for
difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property.

Developed properties

Developed properties are valued using the income capitalization approach, which is based on capitalization of
the discounted annual cash flows from the property, which is calculated by discounting rental income generated
annually by the property using the current market discount rate. Details of inputs to the valuation and sensitivity
analysis are provided in Note 4.
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24 IMPACT OF COVID- 19

The COVID-19 outbreak has developed rapidly in 2020, with a significant number of infections. Measures taken
by the State of Kuwait and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to contain the virus have affected economic activity and
the Group’s business in various significant ways. This note describes the impact of the outbreak on the Group’s
operations and the significant estimates and judgements applied by management in assessing the values of
assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

Investment properties

The economic impact of COVID-19 has materially impacted the rental and services revenue earned during the
year. The relevant authorities ordered the closure of Shopping Malls and other properties, including the Group’s
properties for a certain period of time. As at the date of the issuance of this consolidated financial statements,
restrictive measures to contain the spread of the COVID-19 have been progressively eased leading to the gradual
reopening of the Group’s properties. While the near term cash flows and rental and services revenues were
immediately impacted by the pandemic due to the short term rent concessions granted on case by case basis,
Management is of the believe that the fair values determined by the external independent valuers at 31 December
2020 represents the most reliable valuations for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements
as at 31 December 2020 in the context of uncertainties associated with the lack of market transactions since
the outbreak of the COVID-19, the limitation of availability of reliable market data relating to conditions as at 31
December 2020, the difficulties to estimate future market prospects after the gradual reopening, and the current
stability in the rent and occupancy rates.

The Group’s exposure to tenant credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each tenant.
Tenant credit risk is managed by requiring tenants to pay rent advances leading to substantially minimizing the
Group’s credit risk in this respect.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Management has considered potential impacts of the current market volatility in determination of the reported
amounts of the Group’s unquoted financial assets, and this represents management’s best assessment based
on observable available information as at the reporting date. Given the impact of COVID 19, the management
is of the believe that the fair values of its investment securities represent the price that would be achieved for
transactions between market participants in the current scenario.

Investment in associates

As at the reporting date, the Group is not aware of any impairment indicators to the carrying value of its investment
in associates based on the current available observable information. Markets however remain volatile and the
recorded amounts remain sensitive to market fluctuations
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